

i i se se e













Y

NBS MONOGRAPH 112

FEB 24 1971

ALLLO3 084558

A UNITED STATES

An Introduction to the Description And Evaluation of Microwave Systems Using Terminal Invariant Parameters

National Bureau of Standards

JUL 2 8 1972 JUL 205 QC 100 U556

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE

NATIONAL BUREAU OF STANDARDS

The National Bureau of Standards ¹ was established by an act of Congress March 3, 1901. Today, in addition to serving as the Nation's central measurement laboratory, the Bureau is a principal focal point in the Federal Government for assuring maximum application of the physical and engineering sciences to the advancement of technology in industry and commerce. To this end the Bureau conducts research and provides central national services in four broad program areas. These are: (1) basic measurements and standards, (2) materials measurements and standards, (3) technological measurements and standards, and (4) transfer of technology.

The Bureau comprises the Institute for Basic Standards, the Institute for Materials Research, the Institute for Applied Technology, the Center for Radiation Research, the Center for Computer Sciences and Technology, and the Office for Information Programs.

THE INSTITUTE FOR BASIC STANDARDS provides the central basis within the United States of a complete and consistent system of physical measurement; coordinates that system with measurement systems of other nations; and furnishes essential services leading to accurate and uniform physical measurements throughout the Nation's scientific community, industry, and commerce. The Institute consists of an Office of Measurement Services and the following technical divisions:

Applied Mathematics—Electricity—Metrology—Mechanics—Heat—Atomic and Molecular Physics—Radio Physics ²—Radio Engineering ²—Time and Frequency ²—Astrophysics ²—Cryogenics.²

THE INSTITUTE FOR MATERIALS RESEARCH conducts materials research leading to improved methods of measurement standards, and data on the properties of well-characterized materials needed by industry, commerce, educational institutions, and Government; develops, produces, and distributes standard reference materials; relates the physical and chemical properties of materials to their behavior and their interaction with their environments; and provides advisory and research services to other Government agencies. The Institute consists of an Office of Standard Reference Materials and the following divisions:

Analytical Chemistry—Polymers—Metallurgy—Inorganic Materials—Physical Chemistry. **THE INSTITUTE FOR APPLIED TECHNOLOGY** provides technical services to promote the use of available technology and to facilitate technological innovation in industry and Government; cooperates with public and private organizations in the development of technological standards, and test methodologies; and provides advisory and research services for Federal, state, and local government agencies. The Institute consists of the following technical divisions and offices:

Engineering Standards—Weights and Measures — Invention and Innovation — Vehicle Systems Research—Product Evaluation—Building Research—Instrument Shops—Measurement Engineering—Electronic Technology—Technical Analysis.

THE CENTER FOR RADIATION RESEARCH engages in research, measurement, and application of radiation to the solution of Bureau mission problems and the problems of other agencies and institutions. The Center consists of the following divisions:

Reactor Radiation-Linac Radiation-Nuclear Radiation-Applied Radiation.

THE CENTER FOR COMPUTER SCIENCES AND TECHNOLOGY conducts research and provides technical services designed to aid Government agencies in the selection, acquisition, and effective use of automatic data processing equipment; and serves as the principal focus for the development of Federal standards for automatic data processing equipment, techniques, and computer languages. The Center consists of the following offices and divisions:

Information Processing Standards—Computer Information — Computer Services — Systems Development—Information Processing Technology.

THE OFFICE FOR INFORMATION PROGRAMS promotes optimum dissemination and accessibility of scientific information generated within NBS and other agencies of the Federal government; promotes the development of the National Standard Reference Data System and a system of information analysis centers dealing with the broader aspects of the National Measurement System, and provides appropriate services to ensure that the NBS staff has optimum accessibility to the scientific information of the world. The Office consists of the following organizational units:

Office of Standard Reference Data—Clearinghouse for Federal Scientific and Technical Information ^a—Office of Technical Information and Publications—Library—Office of Public Information—Office of International Relations.

¹ Headquarters and Laboratories at Gaithersburg, Maryland, unless otherwise noted; mailing address Washington, D.C. 20234.

 ² Located at Boulder, Colorado 80302.
 ³ Located at 5285 Port Royal Road, Springfield, Virginia 22151.

NBS Monograph 112

An Introduction to the Description and Evaluation of Microwave System Using Terminal Invariant Parameters

by

Glenn F. Engen

Page 6	Equation (16), last factor should read:
	$\left \frac{\Gamma_{\ell} - \Gamma_{g}^{*}}{1 - \Gamma_{\ell} \Gamma_{g}} \right ^{2}$
Page 11	Equation (32)
	Insert equality sign
Page 14	Third paragraph, third line, Delete asterisk on N _{al}
Page 21	Equation (A-30) Insert equality sign after first line
	Equation (A-35), last factor should read: e ^Y a ^Z

and the second second

· · ·

UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE Maurice H. Stans, Secretary National Bureau of Standards • Lewis M. Branscomb

An Introduction to the Description and Evaluation of Microwave Systems Using Terminal Invariant Parameters

Glenn F. Engen

Institute for Basic Standards National Bureau of Standards Boulder, Colorado 80302



National Bureau of Standards Monograph 112

Nat. Bur. Stand. (U.S.) Monogr. 112, 27 pages (October 1969) CODEN: NBSMA

Issued October 1969

For sale by the Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington, D.C. 20402-Price 35 cents

NATIONAL BUREAU OF STAN FEB 8 6 1971 Hot I

Library of Congress Catalog Card Number: 77-601820

Preface

This monograph gives the technical background and basis for a new method of evaluating certain performance parameters which are common to all microwave systems. A unique feature of the new measurement concept is its elimination of the precision waveguide and connector requirements for an important class of measurement problems. This feature results from a reformulation in terms of "terminal invariant" parameters.

The text of this monograph was previously submitted to the faculty of the Graduate School of the University of Colorado under the title, "A New Concept in Microwave Measurement Techniques," in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy, Department of Electrical Engineering, 1969.

iii

Abstract

The description and evaluation of microwave systems is usually by means of microwave circuit analysis, which may be regarded as an extension of the practice at lower frequencies. In order to insure its validity, it is necessary to postulate that the different components, which comprise the microwave system, are interconnected via uniform and lossless waveguide, and which is usually (but not necessarily) restricted to single mode operation. As a consequence, precision (uniform) waveguide and connectors are usually considered necessary elements for an accurate experimental evaluation of a microwave system.

It is possible to avoid this requirement in an alternative formulation where the description is based upon net power, instead of the complex traveling wave amplitudes. In this reformulation the basic parameters include available power, maximum efficiency (or intrinsic attenuation), and several different "mismatch factors." The important feature of these parameters is their "terminal invariant" property, i.e., their invariance to an arbitrary shift in the terminal reference surface (in an assumed lossless region).

In this way the precision waveguide and connector requirement is avoided for an important class of measurement problems. In addition the physical model, upon which the description is based, is a simple one which provides improved insight into mismatch errors and corrections.

Key words: Attenuation; impedance; microwave power; precision connector; terminal invariant.

iv

Contents

`

List of Figures

		D
Figure 1.	Basic circuit involved in the application of a terminating type power meter	Page 3
Figure 2.	A microwave system which includes nonuniform waveguide	3
Figure 3.	Basic form of reflectometer	4
Figure 4.	Reflectometer with tuning transformers	4
Figure 5.	Reflectometer with nonuniform output arm	5
Figure 6.	Illustrating measurement procedure for M_{gl} , M_{gm} and P_{gl}	7
Figures 7 & 8.	Uniform and perturbed waveguide with termination	8
Figure 9.	Illustrating the extension of measurement capability to systems with non- uniform waveguide	9
Figure 10.	Basic circuit for discussion of attenuation	10
Figure 11.	Circuit for measuring η_{al} and η_{a}	11
Figure 12.	Circuit for measuring small values of η_a	15
Figure 13.	Illustrating the relationship between R , R_c and b_3/b_4	16
Figure 14.	Basic circuit for discussing cascade connected attenuators	16
Figure 15.	Electromagnetic system used in deriving basic reflectometer equation	19
Figure 16.	System used to analyze wave propagation in perturbed waveguide	20



An Introduction to the Description and Evaluation of Microwave Systems Using Terminal Invariant Parameters*

Glenn F. Engen**

1. Background

The microwave art is characterized by the fact that a typical dimension of the associated apparatus, if measured in wavelengths of the attendant electromagnetic radiation, is of the order of unity. Because of this, retardation can no longer be neglected, and the usual circuit concepts, which are extensively employed at lower frequencies, are no longer completely valid.

There is, however, a type of circuit or network theory ¹ which retains its usefulness, and which finds widespread application in microwave problems. For example, it would be difficult, if not impossible, in the immediate context, to assign a meaningful "equivalent circuit" to a slab of resistive material. However, if this slab is mounted in a uniform section of waveguide, it now becomes possible to assign an equivalent circuit in such a way that if this two-port device is incorporated in a given system, the net result on the operation is predictable.

A sufficient condition for the validity of such a circuit representation is that the different components be interconnected by ideal (lossless and uniform) waveguide, and of such length that the interaction is only via single mode.²

Notwithstanding the formal similarity between microwave and low frequency circuit representations, the field of microwave measurements remains distinct for at least two reasons. First, the lower frequency concepts of voltage and current lose much of their practical significance in the microwave region and the measurement of power assumes a fundamental role. Second, the other measurement objectives are usually limited to a determination (many times only in part) of the equivalent circuit parameters. This includes measurements of both impedance and attenuation.

Because the uniform waveguide requirement is implicit in the usual microwave circuit representation, it is not surprising that a review of the existing art finds this requirement deeply enmeshed in current measurement practice. The "standing wave machine," for example, includes a moving probe

¹See for example reference [1].

which samples the field at different longitudinal positions in a *uniform* line. The reflectometer, on the other hand, measures reflection coefficient and, in particular, gives a null output when terminated by a matched (reflectionless) load. The matched load plays an important role in the adjustment or design of such devices, and the existing methods of recognizing matched loads include motion within a uniform piece of waveguide. Finally, the usual definition of attenuation is tied to the reduction in power which results when the two-port device is inserted in a *matched* (reflectionless) system. The realization of a "matched" system, in turn, calls for the already cited impedance measurement techniques.

In brief, the field of microwave measurements represents a highly developed art, and the waveguide uniformity requirement, upon which microwave circuit theory is based, is strongly reflected in the existing measurement practice. Indeed, it is difficult to imagine how it could be otherwise . . . at least while attention continues to focus on the usual microwave circuit theory.

Another feature of the existing art which warrants consideration is the usual description of a microwave system which often starts (sometimes implicitly) with a model in which a match (reflectionless) is assumed for the different components. Then, in order to extend its validity, *mismatch* corrections are introduced, and here the circuit concepts come into full play.

Unfortunately, however, the mathematical descriptions which usually emerge from such an approach are often complicated in appearance, and provide little physical insight into the phenomena they describe. As a result, the subject of mismatch errors and corrections is but little appreciated, even by many practicing engineers. In addition, there is a considerable amount of permissible arbitrariness in interpreting the mismatch correction. This is reflected by the proliferation of terminology which exists. In a mismatched system, for example, what is the most meaningful way to characterize the generator power? Should it be (a) the power which would be delivered to a reflectionless load, (b) the power actually delivered to the given load, (c) the power associated with the emergent wave amplitude when the generator is terminated by the given load. or (d) the available power (which is obtained under conditions of conjugate impedance match)? All of these concepts (and perhaps more) are in current

^{*}Based on the thesis "A New Concept in Microwave Measurement Techniques" in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Ph. D., University of Colorado, Boulder, Colorado, 1969. **Radio Standards Engineering Division, Microwave Circuit Standards, NBS

^{**}Radio Standards Engineering Division, Microwave Circuit Standards, NBS Laboratories, Boulder, Colorado 80302.

²The extension to multimode interaction is straightforward, however this type of operation is avoided in much of the current practice.

use. The term "matched load" has at least three meanings: (a) reflectionless. (b) equal to another load, and (c) complex conjugate of another load (such that maximum power transfer is effected). (In this dissertation the term "matched" is limited to the first of these.) This is only the beginning, however; a recent survey (which was by no means complete) indicates the existence of at least *seventeen* different terms for expressing the loss characteristics of a two-port device.

It must be recognized that this proliferation has been generated, in part, by the need for precision on the one hand, and on the other the desire to limit the number of terms required to describe a particular system. This has been achieved, but at the virtual expense of inventing a different language for each system.

In summary, the existing measurements art is characterized by a circuit theory which imposes (or at least does not relax) certain uniformity requirements upon the associated waveguide. The corollary precision connector requirement results from the recurrent need to separate this uniform waveguide into two (or more) parts. Perhaps the greatest application for this circuit theory is in connection with mismatch corrections or other attempts to sharpen the existing descriptions, but unfortunately there is no consensus of opinion on how best to do this, and a wide variety of competing descriptions are in current use. Finally, the inevitable deviations from the assumed uniformity, in any physically realizable apparatus, represents a limitation on the accuracy with which the performance or other characteristics may be evaluated.

2. Introduction

The "new" concept, which is to be developed in this dissertation, begins by observing that many of the microwave measurement objectives are, of themselves, guite independent of the assumed waveguide uniformity. Perhaps the best example is power which carries the same physical meaning in a system confined within irregular boundaries as in regular waveguide. In other cases, as will be developed, it is possible to substitute new measurement objectives, for old ones, such that the uniformity concept is avoided and yet retain a meaningful system evaluation. Traditionally, attenuation and impedance measurements have played a major support role in extending the dynamic range and evaluating mismatch corrections. However, since these quantities are tied to the uniformity concept, they will be replaced by others for which uniformity is not required. In particular this implies that the *matched load*, which plays a central role in much of the existing practice, is no longer required.

As a consequence, a more meaningful set of criteria, as to which are the important parameters in a mismatched system, will emerge, together with a new a model, for describing the system, in which the emphasis is on power transfer rather than traveling waves, and which provides improved insight into the mismatch corrections. Finally, the uniform waveguide and precision connector requirement will be greatly relaxed for the class of problems under consideration.

Throughout the development of this concept, it will prove convenient to retain the existing circuit descriptions as a working tool, and then examine the final techniques for their independence from uniformity considerations. The development will proceed with the consideration of specific measurement areas.

3. Microwave Power Measurement

Because power represents a basic parameter in the microwave art, it is appropriate to apply the new concept first to power measurement problems.

A large percentage of the microwave power meters in current use, especially at low power levels, are of the "terminating type." This means that they (ideally) terminate the waveguide or transmission line in its characteristic impedance and indicate the power which they absorb. The practical application of such devices calls for their connection to the signal source, in place of the load, to which the power input is required. Provided that the power meter and load are of identical impedance, the power meter reading will correctly indicate the power delivered to the load.

In the more general case, where the load and power meter are of different impedances, it is necessary to multiply the power meter reading by an appropriate "mismatch" factor [2]³:

$$P_{gl} = P_{gm} \frac{|1 - \Gamma_g \Gamma_m|^2 (1 - |\Gamma_l|^2)}{|1 - \Gamma_g \Gamma_l|^2 (1 - |\Gamma_m|^2)}$$
(1)

where P_{gl} and P_{gm} are the powers delivered to the load and power meter and Γ_g , Γ_l , Γ_m are the reflection coefficients of the generator, load and power meter. The coefficient of P_{gm} in eq (1) is a mismatch factor, whose determination calls for the measurement of three complex reflection coefficients and the indicated computation. Fortunately, in many measurement applications (such as the transfer of calibration between power meters) the parameters of the generator are at one's disposal, and a substantial simplification in the mismatch factor is effected by adjusting the generator impedance such that $\Gamma_q = 0$. In the more general application, this is not possible, and in many cases the mismatch factor represents an error because of the practical problems in its evaluation.

The application of the new concept to this measurement problem begins with the system shown in figure 1 where that portion to the left of the arbitrarily chosen (and not necessarily plane) terminal surface is, by definition, the generator; that to the right is the load. The entire system,

³ Figures in brackets indicate the literature references at the end of this paper.

to write:

$$P_{gl} = P_g M_{gl} \tag{2}$$



FIGURE 1. Basic circuit involved in the application of a terminating type power meter.

including both energy sources and sinks, is enclosed in a metal envelope,⁴ a substantial portion of which, in practice, is in the form of waveguide. The object of the experiment is to replace the load by the power meter and from the power meter indication, predict the power delivered to the load. It is assumed that the input cross section of the power meter, while not necessarily the same as that for the load or generator, is such that the continuity of the metallic envelope is preserved, (i.e., the power meter mates with the generator in such a way that there are no "holes" or "gaps" in the system which would permit the electromagnetic energy to escape).

Of the several ways of characterizing the generator power, which were noted in a previous paragraph, only one satisfies the conditions of being (1) characteristic of the generator alone. (2) independent of the uniformity concept, and (3) independent of the choice of terminal surface (within the indicated lossless region). This is the *available power*, P_g , which is, by definition, the physically determined, maximum power that can be delivered to a passive load by the given generator.

In general, the conditions for maximum power transfer will not be satisfied, thus it is appropriate where P_{gl} is the power delivered by the generator to the load and M_{gl} is a mismatch factor, whose value ranges between zero and unity, and whose physical interpretation is that of expressing to what extent the conditions for maximum power transfer have been satisfied. (Note that whereas P_g is a function only of the generator parameters, M_{gl} is a function of both generator and load. This is reflected in the choice of subscripts.) In terms of the usual microwave circuit theory, M_{gl} is given by:

P

$$M_{gl} = \frac{(1 - |\Gamma_g|^2)(1 - |\Gamma_l|^2)}{|1 - \Gamma_g\Gamma_l|^2}$$
(3)

where the reflection coefficients Γ_g , Γ_l have been previously defined.

It is to be emphasized that while the uniformity concept and choice of terminal surface is implicit in the definition of the reflection coefficients, M_{gl} is independent of both, ^{5, 6} and, in fact, retains its physical significance in applications where the usual definitions of reflection coefficient break down completely. In order to make these points more explicit, it is useful to consider the system shown in figure 2. As indicated, it is possible to consider the irregular region as part of the load, part of the generator, or divided between the two in an arbitrary way. Within the uniform portions of guide, existing theory permits the specification of P_g and M_{gl} in terms of circuit parameters. On the other hand, P_g and M_{gl} have been selected to characterize the system because they have a precise physical meaning which is independent of the choice of terminal surface.

The replacement of the load by the power meter is indicated by substitution of the subscript "m" for "l"

$$P_{gm} = P_g M_{gm}.$$
 (4)

Provided that the power meter indicates the power which it actually absorbs,⁷ its reading will equal P_{gm} , and if M_{gm} is known, P_g is determined by eq (4).

Possible Choices of Terminal Surface



FIGURE 2. A microwave system which includes nonuniform waveguide.

⁴ This is largely a matter of convenience for the discussion to follow. If the termination is an antenna it may in principle be replaced by an equivalent load whose characteristics are such that the relationship between the electric and magnetic fields, **E. H.** at the terminal surface is unchanged.

⁴ The validity of this may he recognized in several ways. First, if the conditions for maximum power transfer are satisfied for one choice of terminal surface within the lossless region it must be satisfied for all choices, since if hy any means it were possible to increase the power flow across one surface, energy conservation would require a similar increase at all surfaces within the lossless region. In a similar manner if $M_{all} = 0.9$ in a given combination, this suggests that by a suitable deformation of the load for generator) boundary (e.g., a waveguide tuning transformer), an additional 10 percent in power could be realized. This argument is evidently true for any choice of terminal surface within the lossless region.

for generator boundary (e.g., a waveguide tuning transformer), an automoral to percent in power could be realized. This argument is evidently true for any choice of terminal surface within the lossless region. Alternatively, the power P_{gl} , given by eq (2) cannot depend upon an arbitrary division of the system into generator and load. Thus, if P_g is invariant to the choice of terminal surface, the same must be true of M_{gl} .

⁸ It is instructive to demonstrate this formally for a uniform system using conventional circuit theory. This is done in appendix 1.

 $^{^7}$ H, for example, the bolometric technique is used, the bolometer mount should be calibrated in terms of "effective efficiency" rather than "calibration factor."

Finally:

$$P_{gl} = \frac{M_{gl}}{M_{gm}} P_{gm} \tag{5}$$

so that the mismatch factor introduced in eq (1) is the ratio of M_{gl} to M_{gm} . The evaluation of the mismatch correction in the use of a terminating type power meter has thus been reduced to the measurement of the two terms, M_{gl} and M_{gm} , which are independent of the uniformity concept. Thus, if a method can be devised for measuring M_{gl} directly, instead of relying upon the usual reflection coefficient measurements, it may be anticipated that such a technique might be independent of the waveguide uniformity requirement.

Before proceeding with a description of the technique for measuring these terms, it is desirable to briefly review the prior art.

3.1. Summary of Prior Art

For measurement purposes, one of the most useful of waveguide devices is the directional coupler. A pair connected as shown in figure 3,



FIGURE 3. Basic form of reflectometer.

forms a reflectometer. The original use of the reflectometer was in conjunction with reflection coefficient measurement, and tuning procedures were developed [3] to compensate for imperfections in the coupler characteristics. More recently, the device has been used as a feed through [4] and as a variable impedance, terminating type [5] power meter.

In terms of the analysis employed in references [4] and [5], the electromagnetic fields, which obtain at the output port (2), are described by the complex amplitudes a_2 , b_2 of the incident and emergent traveling waves respectively. These in turn are given by:

$$b_2 = \frac{Ab_4 - Cb_3}{\Delta} \tag{6}$$

$$a_2 = -\frac{Bb_4 - Db_3}{\Delta} \tag{7}$$

where, in a similar manner, b_3 and b_4 represent the amplitudes of the emergent waves at arms 3 and 4, and A, B, C, D, Δ are parameters of the four-arm junction and the detectors on arms 3 and 4. (Explicit equations for $A \ldots \Delta$ in terms of the scattering

coefficients are given in the cited references but will not be needed here.)

If the two couplers have perfect directivity, and are free of internal reflections, both B and Cvanish and b_3 and b_4 become proportional, respectively, to a_2 and b_2 . This is the required condition for a reflectometer. In general, the couplers do not satisfy these conditions, but the introduction of tuning transformers, T_x , T_y , shown in figure 4



FIGURE 4. Reflectometer with tuning transformers.

makes it possible to adjust for the B = C = 0 condition as described in reference [3].

For power measurement applications, the fourarm junction of figure 4 was fitted with bolometric power meters (rather than modulation detectors for example) on arms 3 and 4. With a suitable normalization, and assuming that B=C=0, the net (or actual) power P_2 emerging from arm 2 is given by

$$P_2 = |b_2|^2 - |a_2|^2 \tag{8}$$

$$P_2 = \left|\frac{A}{\Delta}\right|^2 |b_4|^2 - \left|\frac{D}{\Delta}\right|^2 |b_3|^2 \tag{9}$$

$$P_2 = K_1 P_4 - K_2 P_3 \tag{10}$$

where P_3 and P_4 are the powers measured at arms 3 and 4, and K_1 , K_2 are constants of the system whose value may be determined by a suitable calibration or measurement procedure. Equations (8–10) may be given a simple interpretation: the (net) power emerging from arm 2 is given by the difference of the powers carried by the emergent and incident traveling waves.

Although the uniform waveguide concept was implicit in the derivation of this result, it was also recognized [4] that if the output port is extended by perfectly conducting boundaries of arbitrary geometry, and if the enclosed dielectric is lossless, the (net) power flow across *any* arbitrary terminal surface within this region is also given by eq (10). This conclusion follows, quite simply, from energy conservation. This result, in turn, implies that it should be possible to obtain eq (10) under a set of conditions which is less restrictive than B = C = 0.

In particular, let the boundaries be extended by means of the (lossless) two-port device of figure 2. The resulting structure is shown in figure 5. If the terminal surface is shifted from the unprimed to



FIGURE 5. Reflectometer with nonuniform output arm.

primed position, the parameters $A \, \ldots \, \Delta$ will take on new values $(A' \, \ldots \, \Delta')$ and in general B' and C' will no longer vanish. It has been shown [4] however that if the structure satisfies the (uniformity) conditions under which $A \, \ldots \, \Delta$ may be defined, and if these parameters satisfy the equation

$$BD^* - AC^* = 0 \tag{11}$$

where (*) represents the complex conjugate, this is both necessary and sufficient for the output power to be expressible in the form of eq (10). In addition, this equation is also satisfied by the primed variables A'_{1} , D'_{2}

The usual method of achieving eq (11) is by means of tuner T_y , a moving short at port 2, and observation of the effect of the motion upon the ratio P_3/P_4 . Provided that T_y has been adjusted such that this ratio remains constant, it can be shown ⁸ that eq (11) is satisfied. Although the moving short is usually provided with a uniform waveguide section, the only necessary conditions are that the device be free of loss and that the phase angle of the reflection be adjustable. Waveguide uniformity is obviously not required to achieve these conditions.

Having shown that the relationship of interest (eq 10), once established, continues to give the (net) power, irrespective of changes in terminal surface, even in a nonuniform region, it is thus significant that a method, which is also independent of the uniformity concept, exists for recognizing the proper adjustment of T_y which leads to eq (10).

In the usual reflectometer application, the only place, where a uniform section of waveguide is required, is at the output port (2).⁹ Nominal deviations from this ideal, in other parts of the structure, may cause some change in the elements of the equivalent circuit, but these are accounted for n the tuning and calibration procedure. If, however, the device is to be used as a feed through power neter, the above arguments indicate, in addition, hat the uniform section is not required in the heighborhood of the output port.¹⁰ This provides the basis for transferring calibrations between terminating type power meters without regard for possible connector discontinuity [4]. The prior art thus includes examples which are in the full spirit of the new concept.

3.2. A Measurement Procedure for M_{gl} and M_{gm}

In common with the foregoing arguments, the measurement procedure will be developed in terms of the usual microwave circuit theory, and then examined for its dependence upon the uniformity concept.

If, as already noted, the junction parameters satisfy eq (11), the power output at port 2 may be expressed in the form of eq (10), where [4]:

$$K_1 = \frac{|A|^2 - |B|^2}{|\Delta|^2},$$
(12)

$$K_2 = \frac{|D|^2 - |C|^2}{|\Delta|^2}.$$
 (13)

In general, this condition may be realized by adjustment of the tuner T_y . This assumes that the couplers meet certain minimum conditions, which are well satisfied by available components, as to minimum directivity, etc.

It is next instructive to consider the equivalent generator which obtains at port 2 of the "reflectometer" in figure 5, if the power, P_4 , measured by the detector on arm 4 is assumed to be constant or independent of the load on port 2, the actual generator parameters, etc. (In practice this may be achieved by means of a servo controlled attenuator between arm 1 and the actual generator.) This problem has been treated by the author in a prior paper [6]; the important result in the present context is that there exists an equivalent generator, at port 2, whose impedance is independent of the actual source of microwave energy.

Following the results obtained in the cited reference, it will prove useful temporarily to replace the actual generator on port 1 by an adjustable passive load, and excite the junction via arm 2. The passive load on arm 1 is first adjusted such that a null obtains at arm 4, and tuner T_x is next adjusted such that the input impedance at port 2 is equal to the impedance ¹¹ of the generator of figure 1. (For the present, the various components are assumed to have uniform waveguide.) The condition imposed upon the "reflectometer," by this adjustment, may be obtained from eqs (6) and (7) by letting $b_4=0$, $b_2/a_2=\Gamma_g$, whence:

$$C + D\Gamma_g = 0. \tag{14}$$

Let Γ_l represent the ratio a_2/b_2 which now obtains at port 2 with the generator reconnected at port 1. In general, the relationship between b_3/b_4 , and Γ_l is

^{*} See appendix 2. * See appendix 3.

¹⁰ Note however that single mode operation was implicit in the derivation of eq (10) nd that whereas the output cross section at arm 2 may be such as to permit multimode peration, it is, in general, necessary to postulate the existence of a "mode filter" at ome point in arm 2 in order to insure the validity of eq (10). In practice this may be chieved by including a length of guide whose cross section permits only single mode peration.

If To the extent that T_x may be considered lossless, this will not affect the adjustment f T_y which provides the $BD^* \to AC^* = 0$ condition. In general, it is desirable to use an iternative procedure to be described in a following paragraph.

given by,

$$\frac{b_3}{b_4} = \frac{A\Gamma_l + B}{C\Gamma_l + D} \tag{15}$$

Substitution of eqs (11) and (14) and taking the absolute values gives:

$$\left|\frac{b_3}{b_4}\right|^2 = \frac{P_3}{P_4} = \left|\frac{A}{D}\right|^2 \cdot \left|\frac{\Gamma_l - g^*}{1 - \Gamma_l \Gamma_g}\right|^2 \tag{16}$$

The factor $|A/D|^2$ may be measured by substituting a totally reflecting termination for Γ_l , i.e., let $a_2/b_2 = e^{i\theta}$ where θ is arbitrary. Then,

$$\frac{\frac{D_3}{D_4}}{\left|\frac{a_2}{b_2} = e^{i\theta}} = \left|\frac{A}{D}\right|^2.$$
(17)

Now:

$$1 - \frac{|\Gamma_l - \Gamma_g^*|^2}{|1 - \Gamma_l \Gamma_g|^2} = \frac{(1 - |\Gamma_g|^2)(1 - |\Gamma_l|^2)}{|1 - \Gamma_l \Gamma_g|^2} = M_{gl} \quad (18)$$

Equations (16), (17), and (18), thus provide an experimental method of measuring M_{ql} . The measurement of M_{am} obviously requires the substitution of the power meter in place of the load.

A review of these equations shows that if $\Gamma_q = 0$, the procedure leads to the usual reflectometer adjustment B = C = 0 and thus to the value of $|\Gamma_l|^2$; in addition, if $\Gamma_g = 0$, M_{gl} is given by $1 - |\Gamma_l|^2$. The measurement procedure outlined above may thus be regarded as a generalization of the reflectometer technique, where instead of $|\Gamma_l|^2$, the measurement yields $|\Gamma_l - \Gamma_q^*|^2 / |1 - \Gamma_q \Gamma_l|^2$.

In order to clarify the terminology it appears desirable to reserve the term "reflectometer" for a junction which has been so adjusted as to measure reflection coefficients. The same general combination of couplers and tuners, but with a different adjustment (one example of which has just been described) will be called a "generalized reflectometer" or "g-reflectometer" for brevity.

This measurement procedure will next be examined for its dependence upon the uniformity concept.

3.3. Examination for Dependence Upon Uniformity

The measurement procedure outlined in the preceding paragraphs calls first for the adjustment of T_g and then T_x . However in order to avoid interaction between the two adjustments an alternate form of the g-reflectometer, in which the order of the couplers is reversed, is required. Before evaluating the dependence upon uniformity it is desirable to carefully outline the exact measurement procedure.

Referring to figure 6, the items to be considered include the original generator (1) and load (2) (for which P_{q} and M_{ql} are required), the g-reflectometer (3), an auxiliary directional coupler, tuner (T_a) , and signal source (4), a sliding short (5), and power meter (6). These items are identified by the corresponding numbers in figure 6.

The first step in the procedure is the adjustment of T_x such that the generalized reflectometer will simulate the behavior of the actual generator (1). The desired adjustment may be recognized with the help of the auxiliary directional coupler, tuner (T_a) , and signal source (4). In particular, the actual source of microwave energy in the generator (1) is turned off,¹² the generator (1) is then connected to the auxiliary directional coupler and signal source (4), and tuner T_a adjusted for a sidearm null. The generator (1) is next replaced by the g-reflectometer (3), the input port (arm 1) of which is terminated in an arbitrary passive load. The tuner T_q is next adjusted for a null in arm 4 ($P_4 = 0$) and tuner T_x is adjusted for a null in the sidearm of the auxiliary directional coupler. The g-reflectometer parameters now satisfy eq (14), and this completes the adjustment of tuner T_x .

A signal source is next connected to the input (arm 1) of the g-reflectometer and the output port (arm 2) is connected to the sliding short (5). Tuner T_g is then adjusted such that the ratio P_3/P_4 remains constant for all positions of the short. The g-reflectometer parameters now satisfy eq (11).¹³ This completes the adjustment procedure.

The measurement consists of observing the ratio P_3/P_4 with the sliding short,¹⁴ load (2), and power meter (6) connected in turn. This provides a measure of M_{gl} and M_{gm} as already described using eqs (16), (17), (18). Finally, the power meter (6) is connected to the generator (1), P_{gm} is measured, and P_{gl} calculated using eq (5). Note that the available power, P_{g} , may now be obtained from eq (3), while M_{gl} indicates what fraction of the available power is actually delivered to the load.

Returning to figure 6, it will now be assumed that the generator (1) and g-reflectometer (3) out puts only are of uniform rectangular waveguide. When connected to the auxiliary coupler (4) there may be a discontinuity (in guide cross section) at the mating surface; if so, the discontinuity is as; sumed to be identical for the generator (1) and g-reflectometer (3). Within the immediate vicinity of the mating terminal surface a complete description of the waveguide fields will usually require a number of modes, while at a greater distance the higher modes will have decayed (exponentially to negligible amplitudes and the field may be completely described by the wave amplitudes of the lowest order forward and reverse traveling waves. Corresponding to the auxiliary coupler (4) sidearn.

¹² In practice there is often substantial isolation between the actual source of micro-wave energy and the generator output terminal such that the generator "impedance" wave energy and the generator output terminal such that the generator "impedance is essentially independent of the energy source. In any case, however, it is not within the scope of this dissertation to consider all of the practical questions which may be suggested by the prescribed measurement procedures. ¹³ Although Tuner T_{ν} was also used in obtaining the previous adjustment, it can be shown (see appendix 4) that the $C + D\Gamma_g = 0$ condition is invariant to the adjustment of T.

¹⁴ In actual practice it is usually desirable to observe P_3/P_4 with a high quality fixed short, rather than a sliding one.





ull, there is a unique phase and amplitude relationhip between these (lowest order) waves, and if his is the same for both generator (1) and g-reflecometer (3), their impedances (by definition) are qual. Thus, although uniform guide has been ostulated for the generator and g-reflectometer, is evidently not required in the auxiliary direconal coupler (4).

Continuing with this line of argument, it has ready been noted that uniformity is not required a principle at least) for the phasable short operaon. Next, with regard to the load (2) and power eter (6), the fields in the mating uniform guide gain allow a modal expansion in which energy propagation is only via the lowest order mode. Associated with this mode is an impedance, and since the procedure is such as to explicitly account for this impedance, the operation is independent of deviations from the assumed uniformity and/or cross section of the load and power meter.

It is therefore a *sufficient* condition, for the prescribed measurement procedure, that the generator and *g*-reflectometer only be provided with the uniform waveguide section. In order to further relax this requirement, it is necessary to examine the role of the uniform section in greater detail.

Referring to figure 7, it will prove instructive to consider the operation of a uniform section of wave-

guide and passive termination. At the input port (terminal surface 1) it is possible to arbitrarily prescribe a transverse electric field \mathbf{E}_t (subject only to the appropriate boundary conditions) and which, in principle, determines the electromagnetic fields throughout the entire structure. On the other hand, given an adequate separation between terminal surfaces¹⁵ 1 and 2, and assuming all modes except one are beyond cutoff, the field at terminal 2 will (except for a constant multiplier) be substantially independent of the prescribed excitation at terminal 1 and dependent only upon the terminating load. Moreover, if the load possesses an adequate length of uniform waveguide at its input, the field at terminal 2 will consist essentially of the lowest mode traveling waves.



FIGURES 7 & 8. Uniform and perturbed waveguide with termination.

The validity of these statements may be easily recognized; if the arbitrary field at terminal 1 is expressed in terms of the appropriate modal expansion, it is found that the field at terminal 2 is due entirely to the single (lowest) propagating mode.¹⁶

The extension of these arguments to a nonuniform waveguide begins with a statement as to the types of structures which will be considered. Except as may be otherwise noted, it is assumed that the perturbed guide is at least a "reasonable" approximation to a uniform, single mode structure. In particular, this excludes arbitrary increases in cross section or the insertion of dielectric materials which would permit multimode propagation. In addition it precludes, for example, the use of a vertical septum in rectangular waveguide in such a way as to suppress the TE_{10} mode while leaving the TE_{20} unaffected. As a practical matter, this restriction is well satisfied by the components in common use. The standard tolerances on rectangular waveguide, for example, permit dimensional changes in the range 0.1 percent to 1.0 percent.

Now let perturbations be added to the uniform section of figure 7 as indicated in figure 8. Since the usual waveguide modes form a complete set, for any given cross section, one may visualize the arbitrary transverse electric field, which occurs at terminal 1 of the perturbed guide, in terms of its modal expansion using for basis functions those of the unperturbed waveguide. It is then instructive to consider the resultant field at terminal 2 on a mode-by-mode basis.

To a first approximation the perturbed guide will continue to propagate the dominant mode while suppressing the others. Thus, the field at terminal 2 will include traveling wave components associated with the dominant mode, and higher order, nonpropagating, components which are excited by the incident dominant wave, as required to satisfy the perturbed boundary conditions in the neighborhood of terminal 2. Higher order modal components which may be included in the prescribed excitation or generated in the vicinity of terminal 1 cannot make a direct contribution of significance to the field at terminal 2 because of the attenuation associated with their propagation. It may be possible to have mode conversion from the higher order modes to the dominant mode, if so this will combine with the already existing dominant mode to yield a change in the total field amplitude at terminal 2... but not in its functional form. The physical description of the electromagnetic fields which emerges from these considerations, is that of the unperturbed, lowest order propagating mode, together with a superposition of higher order, nonpropagating modes, whose amplitudes at any particular cross section are determined primarily by the boundary conditions (perturbations) in the immediate vicinity.

In a similar manner, it is useful to consider the "impedance" which obtains at port 1 of the two guides. For the unperturbed case (fig. 7) the impedance is usually defined on a mode-by-mode basis in terms of the ratio of the amplitudes (reflection coefficients) for the ingoing and outcoming waves. For the lowest mode, this impedance will be a function of the load on terminal 2; for the higher modes, to the extent that the associated fields are attenuated before reaching terminal 2; the associated impedances are independent of the load.

This same formal definition of modal impedance can also be applied to the perturbed guide. Again it will be recognized that, for the lowest mode, the impedance is a function of the terminating load. In contrast with the uniform guide however, if the possibility of mode conversion is allowed, the impedances for the higher order modes will also be dependent upon the terminating load. Thus, if one termination is removed from the perturbed guide of figure 8, and another substituted in its place, this may (in principle) be observed as a change in imped ance for several of the modes at terminal 1. How

¹⁵ Hereafter called terminals 1 and 2 for brevity.

¹⁶ Loosely speaking, it is necessary to restrict the "arbitrary" field at terminal 1 to one in which the coefficients, of the higher order terms in the modal expansion, are of the same order or less than that of the dominant term. In the projected applicatior this restriction is usually well satisfied.

ever if the characteristics of the second load are such that the lowest mode impedances observed at terminal 1 are identical, this is sufficient to ensure that the impedances (at terminal 1) are the same for each of the modes. The validity of this may be easily recognized from the given description where higher order mode interaction with the load is possible only through conversion to the lowest mode where, by hypothesis, the impedances are identical.

As already noted, the ratio of the ingoing to outcoming waves at terminal 1 is determined, on a modal basis, by the associated impedances. Thus, if the transverse electric field is given, the magnetic field is thereby determined.

For the purpose of this dissertation, two terminations are equivalent provided that for an arbitrarily prescribed transverse electric field at the input, the resultant transverse magnetic fields are the same. The foregoing arguments show that this is equivalent to requiring an equality of impedances on a mode-bymode basis. Finally, for the type of structure under consideration (perturbed waveguide) it is possible to substitute one termination for another at port 2 and provided that the impedance observed at terminal 1 is unchanged for the lowest mode, the same will be true for all modes.17

The application of these results to the power measurement problem is straightforward. Referring again to figure 6, it has already been shown that a sufficient condition for the validity of the described measurement is that the generator (1) and g-reflectometer (3) outputs be provided with the uniform section. Consider next the arrangement of figure 9,



FIGURE 9. Illustrating the extension of measurement capability' to systems with nonuniform waveguide.

section of the generator output line and connecting it to the g-reflectometer. ^a As thus defined, there is no place for "attenuation" in the new concept. In addition, however, the term "attenuation" is also associated in a general way with the loss characteristics of a two port device. Whenever this association is intended the term will be inclosed within quotation marks. Finally, in recognition of the prior terminology, the term "attenuator" will continue to be used to represent a two port device whose basic function is that of reducing the power delivered to the load. ^{as} The maximum efficiency concept is also implicit in the terms intrinsic insertion loss [7], intrinsic attenuation [8], and possibly others.

where the generator and g-reflectometer are provided with identical output sections. Corresponding to the auxiliary coupler null a unique impedance will exist for the dominant mode and thus for all modes. Finally, if the same null obtains for the g-reflectometer, its impedance properties must be identical to the generator as required.

The requirement for a uniform waveguide section at the generator and g-reflectometer outputs is thus relaxed to the condition that they be of the same nominal length and cross section as the uniform guide and identical to each other.¹⁸

4. Microwave "Attenuation" Measurement

The application of these concepts to the area of attenuation measurement proceeds along the lines already established. As previously noted, at least 17 (and undoubtedly more) different terms have been introduced into the literature in order to describe the change (usually a reduction) in power which takes place when a two port device is inserted between a generator and load. In the most general case, the determination of this change in power level is by no means a trivial problem since, in addition to the three complex numbers (four if reciprocity is not satisfied) required to describe the two port (attenuator), the complex generator and load impedances are involved. A complete description of the problem thus involves 10 (or 12) parameters. Aside from a certain amount of duplication, the different terms, describing the power change which follows the insertion of the attenuator, have been generated by imposing different sets of boundary conditions on the system in which the attenuator is to be installed. "Attenuation," for example, is usually defined as the reduction in power which results if the associated system is perfectly matched.¹⁹ This invokes the uniformity concept. "Insertion loss," on the other hand, is typically defined as the change in power (sometimes an increase) which results when the two port is inserted in an arbitrary system. This avoids the uniformity requirement but includes the parameters of the generator and load.

Among the descriptions which have been introduced, one satisfies the conditions of being characteristic of the two port alone, independent of the uniformity concept and choice of terminal surface. This is the maximum efficiency,²⁰ which will be denoted by η_a . (The letter η has been extensively employed to represent efficiency, the use of a single subscript reflects the fact that the term is a function of the parameters of the attenuator only and finally the choice of the letter "a" is a concession to the attenuation concept.)

In complete analogy to eq (2), and referring to figure 10, it is now convenient to write:

$$P_{gl} = P_g M_{ga} \eta_a N_{al} \tag{19}$$

¹⁷ The foregoing arguments have been largely of a descriptive nature with the object tive of providing physical insight into the problem. An analytical investigation of this topic is given in appendix 5. In practice it may be desirable to insure this condition hy actually removing a

section of the generator output line and connecting it to the g-reflectometer.



FIGURE 10. Basic circuit for discussion of attenuation.

where the terms are defined as follows:

- $P_{ql} =$ Power delivered by generator-through attenuator-to load, as previously defined.
- P_g = Generator available power as previously defined.
- M_{aa} = Mismatch factor between generator and attenuator-load combination (equivalent to M_{gl} except it is important to recognize that the impedance at the attenuator input is a function of both attenuator and load parameters).
- $\eta_a = Maximum$ efficiency of attenuator. (Except when $\eta_a = 1$, it is obtained only for a uniquely determined value of load impedance.)
- $N_{al} = \text{Ratio of the attenuator efficiency for the}$ given load to its maximum efficiency. This is also a mismatch factor although of a different nature than M_{ga} .

In particular, (for a two-port) N_{al} is a function only of the attenuator and load parameters, whereas M_{qq} is a function also of the generator. This fact is reflected by the use of N rather than M to represent the mismatch factor. As in the previous case, each of these quantities is invariant to the choice of terminal surface within an arbitrary lossless region.

In terms of η_a and N_{al} , it is also convenient to write:

$$\eta_{al} = \eta_a N_{al} \tag{20}$$

where η_{al} is the efficiency of the attenuator of figure 10 when terminated by the given load. The application of the new concept to "attenuation" measurements will begin with a method for the measurement of η_{al} .

Referring again to figure 10 it is possible to express η_{al} in terms of the attenuator scattering coefficients and the load reflection coefficient Γ_{1} 21, 22

$$\eta_{al} = \frac{|S_{21}|^2 (1 - |\Gamma_l|^2)}{|1 - S_{22}\Gamma_l|^2 - |(S_{12}S_{21} - S_{11}S_{22})\Gamma_l + S_{11}|^2}.$$
(21)

Although the scattering coefficients are extensively employed in microwave circuit analysis, an alternative description is more convenient in much of the discussion which follows. At terminal surface 1 the reflection coefficient, Γ_{in} , looking into the attenuator can be written

$$\Gamma_{\rm in} = \frac{a\Gamma_l + b}{c\Gamma_l + 1} \tag{22}$$

where: 23

and

$$\begin{array}{c}
a = S_{12}S_{21} - S_{11}S_{22}, \\
b = S_{11}, \\
c = -S_{22}
\end{array}$$
(23)

The parameters a, b, c, thus provide a complete description of the attenuator if reciprocity $(S_{12}=S_{21})$ is satisfied.

It will also prove convenient to introduce the auxiliary quantity η_{rl} given by

$$\eta_{rl} = \frac{|a - bc| (1 - |\Gamma_l|^2)}{|1 + c\Gamma_l|^2 - |a\Gamma_l + b|^2} \,. \tag{24}$$

Comparison of eqs (21), (23), and (24) indicates that η_{rl} and η_{al} are equal when reciprocity is satisfied.

The functional relationship between Γ_{in} and Γ_l , eq (22), is in the form of a linear fractional transformation, the geometry of which plays an important role in the discussion to follow. In general, let w and z represent two complex variables which are related by

$$w = \frac{\alpha z + \beta}{\gamma z + \delta} \,. \tag{25}$$

It can be shown²⁴ that a circle of unit radius and center at the origin in the z plane is mapped into a circle in the w plane whose radius R is given by

$$R = \left| \frac{\beta \gamma - \alpha \delta}{|\delta|^2 - |\gamma|^2} \right|$$
(26)

and whose center is displaced from the origin by the (absolute) amount R_c ,

$$R_{c} = \left| \frac{\beta \delta^{*} - \alpha \gamma^{*}}{|\delta|^{2} - |\gamma|^{2}} \right|.$$
(27)

 $^{^{21}}$ See, for example, reference (9), p. 49. . 22 The term Γ_ℓ introduced here is not to be confused with the Γ_ℓ of the preceeding

section. ²³ The a, b, introduced here are not to be confused with the a_1, b_1, a_2, b_2 , which are used to represent the incident and emergent wave amplitudes at ports 1 and 2 etc. ²⁴ See a text on complex variable theory.

Now let port 2 of the attenuator be connected to the output port of a g-reflectometer as indicated in figure 11 and let the reflection coefficients looking to the right at terminal planes 1 and 2 of the attenuator be designated, by Γ_1 and Γ_2 respectively. The nature of the load or other termination on port 1 which, produces Γ_1 is, as yet, unspecified.) In terms of these definitions, and noting that, as compared with figure 10, the direction of the attenuator has been reversed,

$$\Gamma_2 = \frac{a\Gamma_1 - c}{-b\Gamma_1 + 1} \cdot \tag{28}$$

Substitution of this result into eq (15), and noting that the Γ_l of eq (15) now becomes Γ_2 , yields:

$$\frac{b_3}{b_4} = \frac{(Aa - Bb)\Gamma_1 + B - Ac}{(Ca - Db)\Gamma_1 + D - Cc} \cdot$$
(29)

The relationship between b_3/b_4 and Γ_1 is thus also in the form of a linear fractional transformation.²⁵



FIGURE 11. Circuit for measuring η_{a1} and η_{a} .

It is now instructive to consider the response of the g-reflectometer (of fig. 11) with arm 1 of the attenuator terminated by a sliding short. For a sliding short, $\Gamma_1 = e^{i\theta}$ where θ is a function ²⁶ of the short position. The locus of Γ_1 is thus a circle of unit radius. Comparing eqs (25), (26), and (29), the transformed circle in the b_3/b_4 plane has a radius R_1 given by

$$R_{1} = \frac{|(B - Ac)(Ca - Db) - (Aa - Bb)(D - Cc)|}{|D - Cc|^{2} - |Ca - Db|^{2}}$$
(30)

while if the sliding short is connected to arm 2 of the g-reflectometer (in place of the attenuator) the corresponding radius R_2 is given by:

$$R_2 = \frac{|AD - BC|}{|D|^2 - |C|^2} \,. \tag{31}$$

Taking the ratio of eqs (30), and (31) yields, after some simplification.

$$\frac{R_1}{R_2} \quad \frac{|a-bc| \left(1-\left|\frac{C}{D}\right|^2\right)}{\left|1-c\frac{C}{D}\right|^2 - \left|a\frac{C}{D}-b\right|^2}.$$
(32)

Comparison of this result with eq (24) indicates that $R_1/R_2 = \eta_{al}$ provided that $C/D = -\Gamma_l$ and reciprocity holds. This type of boundary condition on C and D is identical to that introduced by eq (14) and may be effected by the tuning procedures for T_x already described and where the "load" of figure 10 takes the place of the (inactive) generator of figure 9. If the losses in the attenuator are small, the attenuator itself can take the place of the "identical output sections" of figure 9. Otherwise it is necessary to either remove part of the input lead (to the load of figure 10) and connect it to port 2 of the g-reflectometer or else assume the sections are identical. This aspect of the problem is completely analogous to that previously described in conjunction with figure 9.

Given the proper adjustment of T_x ($C = -D\Gamma_l$) . . . note that an adjustment of T_y is not required, the efficiency η_{al} is thus given by the ratio of the radii of the two circles R_1 and R_2 .²⁷ The measurement of these radii will be the subject of a later paragraph.

4.2. Measurement of η_a

The extension of these techniques to the measurement of maximum efficiency begins with a determination of that value of load impedance for which the efficiency is a maximum. This could be obtained from eq (21) by first choosing the argument of Γ_1 (by inspection) such that the denominator is a minimum and then differentiating the resulting equation with respect to $|\Gamma_l|$. The same result, however, may be obtained by an alternative and somewhat shorter route. Returning to figure 10, if the parameters of the generator, attenuator, and load are taken as arbitrary, it would, in general, be possible to achieve an increase in the power delivered to the load by the introduction and appropriate adjustment of lossless tuners at terminals 1 and 2. The only exception would occur if the generator and load were such that a conjugate impedance match already existed at these terminals. Under these conditions, maximum power is delivered to the load, and the attenuator is evidently operating

 ²⁵ It is a general property that any succession of linear fractional transformations
 sexpressible as a single linear fractional transformation.
 ²⁶ In the case of uniform waveguide, a linear function of the short position.

²⁷ The use of the impedance transformation properties, as a tool for the measurement of efficiency, has been described by a number of authors. (See references [10, 11, 12, 13].) However, the present method is useful with terminations of arbitrary impedance. avoids the measurement of impedance (in the usual sense), and, except for the reci-procity requirement, is applicable to two port devices of arbitrary characteristics.

at maximum efficiency. Thus at terminal 1,

$$\Gamma_g^* = \Gamma_{in} = \frac{a\Gamma_l + b}{c\Gamma_l + 1} \tag{33}$$

while at terminal 2,

$$\Gamma_l^* = \frac{a\Gamma_g - c}{-b\Gamma_g + 1}.$$
(34)

Elimination of Γ_g between these equations yields

$$(c-ab^{*})\Gamma_{l}^{2} + (1-|b|^{2} - |a|^{2} + |c|^{2})\Gamma_{l} + (c-ab^{*})^{*} = 0.$$
(35)

This represents the (implicit) condition on Γ_l for which the maximum efficiency is obtained. Equation 35 may be solved for Γ_l and the result substituted in eq (21) to yield an explicit expression for η_a . This result is not required in the present context, but is given in a following section.

Next, returning to the system of figure 11, it will be assumed that the parameters A cdots Dsatisfy eq (11) (as provided by the adjustment of T_y). In addition, let the ratio C/D ($=-\Gamma_l$) be chosen in such a way that the circular locus, obtained with the sliding short at terminal 1, is centered at the origin of the b_3/b_4 plane. (Note that the circle obtained with the short on terminal 2 is centered by virtue of eq (11). The parameters of the g-reflectometer and attenuator combination may be obtained by inspection of eq (29). Substitution of these in eq (27), and assuming $R_c=0$ yields:

$$|(B - Ac) (D - Cc)^* - (Aa - Bb) (Ca - Db)^*| = 0$$
(36)

and imposing the condition of eq (11), and letting $\Gamma_l = -C/D$ yields:

$$|AD| \cdot |(c-ab^*)\Gamma_l^2 + (1-|b|^2 - |a|^2 + |c|^2)\Gamma_l + (c-ab^*)^*| = 0$$
(37)

Comparison of eqs (37) and (35) shows that the condition on the ratio C/D which provides $R_c = 0$ is identical to that for obtaining the maximum efficiency.

The procedure for measuring maximum efficiency, when reciprocity is satisfied, is thus as follows. Referring again to figure 11, port 2 of the

g-reflectometer is terminated by the sliding short and tuner T_y adjusted such that the ratio $|b_3/b_4|^2$ $=P_3/P_4$ remains constant while the short position is varied. As previously noted, this establishes the $BD^* - AC^* = 0$ condition. The attenuator is next connected to the g-reflectometer (as shown in fig. 11) and the sliding short to the attenuator terminal 1. Tuner T_x is then adjusted such that P_3/P_4 again remains constant as the short position is varied. Provided that tuner T_x is lossless (as will be assumed for the present) the adjustment of T_y , as described, is invariant ²⁸ to the adjustment of T_x . The g-reflectometer parameters are now such that eqs (11) and (37) are satisfied and the maximum efficiency is obtained in terms of the ratio of the radii of the two circular loci as already described for η_{al} .²⁹

In practice, tuner T_x is not lossless and some interaction between the two adjustments is possible. It is noted, however, that the adjustment of T_y is required only as part of the procedure for obtaining the correct adjustment of T_x which, in turn, established the ratio of C/D corresponding to that value of Γ_l for which the maximum efficiency obtains. The efficiency measurement itself is independent of the adjustment of T_y . Thus, the only effect of losses in Tuner T_r is in obtaining an efficiency measurement for a load which differs from the one which yields the maximum efficiency. However, since the dependence of the efficiency upon the load impedance vanishes, as the maximum is approached, a first order error in the adjustment of T_x will yield only a second order error in the determination of η_a . This is expected to be completely negligible in practice.^{30, 31}

In addition to reciprocity considerations, these techniques for measuring η_a and η_{al} are further restricted, by practical considerations, to rather small values of "attenuation" ~ 10 dB or less. This may be easily recognized from figure 11 where for large "attenuations" Γ_2 , and thus the ratio b_3/b_4 (in terms of which the measurement is made), becomes independent of Γ_1 . On the other hand, in their range of practical application, these techniques are easier to implement than the more general procedures which will follow. First, however, it will prove desirable to consider the measurement of N_{al} .

4.3. Measurement of Nat

As already noted, N_{al} is a mismatch factor, and is, by definition, equal to the ratio η_{al}/η_a . Thus the measurement techniques for η_a and η_{al} , already described, provide an implicit determination of N_{al} . However because of the practical limitations, already described, an alternative procedure is called for. This will now be developed.

As previously noted, N_{al} is a function of the attenuator parameters and of the terminating

²⁸ This may be recognized intuitively. If with the sliding short connected to arm 2, Tuner T_x is changed, this is equivalent (in terms of the system response) to motion of the short. However, if T_y is properly adjusted, the response is invariant to this motion.

²⁹ Alternative procedures for measuring η_a will be found in references (7) and (14). ³⁰ Indeed, this would probably be true, for many applications, even if the error were a first order effect.

³¹ If for any reason a more accurate realization of the assumed tuning conditions (Equations (11) and (37)) is required, this could be achieved, despite the losses in T_x , by repeating the procedure several times. However, the need for this is not envisioned.

load (Γ_l). It is convenient, however to write ³²

$$N_{al} = \frac{(1 - |\Gamma_l|^2) (1 - |\Gamma_m|^2)}{|1 - \Gamma_l \Gamma_m^*|^2 - \eta_r^2 |\Gamma_l - \Gamma_m|^2}$$
(38)

$$=1 - \frac{(1 - \eta_r^2) \frac{|\Gamma_l - \Gamma_m|^2}{|1 - \Gamma_l \Gamma_m^*|^2}}{1 - \eta_r^2 \frac{|\Gamma_l - \Gamma_m|^2}{|1 - \Gamma_l \Gamma_m^*|^2}}$$
(39)

where Γ_m is that value of load reflection coefficient for which the maximum efficiency is obtained, and η_r is given by eq (24) with Γ_m substituted for Γ_l . (If reciprocity is satisfied, $\eta_r = \eta_a$.)

Referring again to figure 11 it will be assumed that the parameters of the g-reflectometer satisfy the two conditions $C + D\Gamma_l = 0$ and $BD^* - AC^* = 0$. (The adjustment of T_x and T_y , by which this is obtained, is as previously described.)

In section 4.1 it was shown that η_{rl} is given by

$$\eta_{rl} = \frac{R_1}{R_2} \tag{40}$$

where R_1 and R_2 are the radii of the two circular loci obtained with the sliding short at terminal surfaces 1 and 2. It is also possible to express η_{rl} as follows: 33

$$\frac{R_1}{R_2} = \eta_{rl} = \frac{\eta_r \left(1 - \frac{|\Gamma_l - \Gamma_m|^2}{|1 - \Gamma_l \Gamma_m^*|^2}\right)}{1 - \eta_r^2 \frac{|\Gamma_l - \Gamma_m|^2}{|1 - \Gamma_l \Gamma_m^*|^2}}.$$
(41)

In addition to this expression, the determination of N_{al} also involves the ratio R_{c1}/R_2 where R_{c1} is

the displacement, from the origin, of the circular locus obtained with the sliding short on terminal 1. In terms of η_r , Γ_l , and Γ_m , this ratio is given by: ³⁴

$$\frac{R_{c1}}{R_2} = \frac{(1 - \eta_r^2) \frac{|\Gamma_l - \Gamma_m|}{|1 - \Gamma_l \Gamma_m^*|}}{1 - \eta_r^2 \frac{|\Gamma_l - \Gamma_m|^2}{|1 - \Gamma_l \Gamma_m^*|^2}}.$$
(42)

As a matter of convenience, in discussing eqs (41), (42), it will be convenient to make the following substitutions

$$\frac{R_1}{R_2} = u \tag{43}$$

$$\frac{R_{c1}}{R_2} = v \tag{44}$$

$$\frac{|\Gamma_l - \Gamma_m|}{|1 - \Gamma_l \Gamma_m^*|} = g. \tag{45}$$

Equations (41), (42) now become:

$$u = \frac{\eta_r (1 - g^2)}{1 - g^2 \eta_r^2} \tag{46}$$

$$v = \frac{g(1 - \eta_r^2)}{1 - g^2 \eta_r^2}$$
(47)

Equations (46) and (47) may be solved for g and η_r in terms of the measurable quantities u and v. This is conveniently done by first squaring both sides of eq (47) and then eliminating g using eq (46). This leads to the following expression for η_r :

$$\eta_r = \frac{1}{2u} \left\{ 1 + u^2 - v^2 - \left[\left(1 - u^2 - v^2 \right)^2 - 4u^2 v^2 \right]^{1/2} \right\}$$
(48)

$$= u \left[1 + \frac{v^2}{1 - u^2 - v^2} \left(1 + \frac{u^2 v^2}{1 - u^2 - v^2} + \frac{2u^4 v^4}{(1 - u^2 - v^2)^2} + \cdots \right) \right], \tag{49}$$

while g is given by:

$$g = \frac{1}{2v} \left\{ 1 + v^2 - u^2 - \left[(1 - u^2 - v^2)^2 - 4u^2 v^2 \right]^{1/2} \right\}$$
(50)

$$= v \left[1 + \frac{u^2}{1 - u^2 - v^2} \left(1 + \frac{u^2 v^2}{1 - u^2 - v^2} + \frac{2u^4 v^4}{(1 - u^2 - v^2)^2} + \cdots \right) \right].$$
(51)

In terms of v and g, N_{al} is given by

$$N_{al} = 1 - vg \tag{52}$$

so that finally:

$$N_{al} = 1 - \frac{1}{2} \{ 1 + v^2 - u^2 - [(1 - u^2 - v^2)^2 - 4u^2v^2]^{1/2} \}$$
(53)

$$=1-v^{2}\left[1+\frac{u^{2}}{1-u^{2}-v^{2}}\left(1+\frac{u^{2}v^{2}}{1-u^{2}-v^{2}}+\frac{2u^{4}v^{4}}{(1-u^{2}-v^{2})^{2}}+\cdot\cdot\cdot\right)\right].$$
(54)

³² The proof of these equations will be found in appendix 6. ³³ This result may be obtained from eq (39), and using the relation $\eta_{rl}/\eta_r = N_{al}$.

For a wide range of practical application the series converges rapidly 35 and eq (54) is the more convenient of the two expressions.

Equation (49) suggests an alternative method of measuring η_a when reciprocity is satisfied. However as previously noted, the accurate measurement of *u* becomes difficult when its value is small and this results in a first order error in η_a . On the other hand, as inspection of eq (54) shows, the value of N_{al} has a very small dependence upon u and the errors in its determination.

Comparison of eqs (38) and (39) with eq (18) indicates that for large values of "attenuation" (small values of η_a) the expressions for N_{al}^* and M_{gl} become identical if Γ_m is replaced by Γ_g . This is consistent with the relative independence of Γ_{in} upon Γ_l under the same conditions.

4.4. The Measurement of Small Values of n_a

As noted in a preceding section, the previously described techniques become impractical for small values of η_a . This will become more evident in the following section where the actual measurement procedures are explained in greater detail. This section will develop a technique which is appropriate for small values of η_a (large "attenuations") and which is also applicable when reciprocity is not satisfied.

Returning to figure 10, it will prove desirable to employ a description alternative to that associated with eq (19). In order to make this distinction explicit, however, the first description will be briefly reviewed. In eq (19) the product $\eta_a N_{al}$ is equal to the efficiency η_{al} which the attenuator provides when terminated by the given load. By definition, this efficiency is equal to the ratio of the power delivered to the load, to that delivered to the attenuator. The power delivered to the attenuator is, in turn, given by the product of the available power P_g and the mismatch factor M_{ga} between the generator and the attenuator-load combination. The analysis thus first associates the attenuator with the load (through the dependence of η_{al} upon Γ_l). The attenuator-load combination is then interpreted as a new "load" and the mismatch between it and the generator analyzed as was done for figure 1.

Notwithstanding the utility of this interpretation in many applications, an alternative analysis is more useful in the present problem. Instead of associating the attenuator with the load, its effect upon the system in figure 10 may be interpreted as modifying the generator parameters in such a way as to reduce the available power and, in general, of changing the source impedance. The mismatch M_{al} , between this new source (the generator-attenuator combination) and the load, may then be evaluated as was done for figure 1.

Let q_{ga} equal the ratio of the available power at terminal 2 (fig. 10) to that at terminal 1. It is then possible to write:

$$P_{gl} = P_g q_{ga} M_{al}. \tag{55}$$

In terms of the generator and attenuator parameters, q_{ga} is given by: ³⁶

$$q_{ga} = \frac{|S_{21}|^2 (1 - |\Gamma_g|^2)}{|1 - S_{11}\Gamma_g|^2 - |(S_{12}S_{21} - S_{11}S_{22})\Gamma_g + S_{22}|^2}.$$
(56)

Comparison of this expression with that for η_{al} (eq (21)) indicates that the two are identical if Γ_g is substituted for Γ_l and the terms S_{11} , S_{22} are interchanged. Provided that reciprocity is satisfied, q_{ga} is thus equal to the efficiency which obtains for an assumed energy propagation in the reverse direction,³⁷ and with the generator impedance taking the role of a terminating load. The quantity q_{aa} , in its functional form, is thus closely related to efficiency, and this aspect will be exploited in the discussion to follow.

By definition, Γ_m is that value of Γ_l which satisfies eq (35). Solving this equation and substitution in eq (21) yields:

$$\eta_{a} = \frac{\frac{2|S_{21}|^{2}}{1+|S_{12}S_{21}-S_{11}S_{22}|^{2}-|S_{11}|^{2}-|S_{22}|^{2}}}{1+\left(1-\frac{4|S_{12}S_{21}|^{2}}{(1+|S_{12}S_{21}-S_{11}S_{22}|^{2}-|S_{11}|^{2}-|S_{22}|^{2})^{2}}\right)^{1/2}}$$

$$(57)$$

In common with the foregoing treatment of efficiency, it will prove useful to write

$$q_{ga} = Q_{ga} q_a \tag{58}$$

where q_a is the maximum value of q_{ga} (obtained by varying Γ_g) and Q_{ga} is defined by eq (58). An explicit expression for q_a may be obtained, as was done for η_a , by first finding the value of Γ_g for which q_a is a maximum and then substituting in eq (56). If this is done it is found that,

$$q_a = \eta_a. \tag{59}$$

In a completely similar way it is found that the expression for Q_{ga} and N_{al} are identical, if Γ_q is substituted for Γ_l and Γ_m is understood to represent that value of generator reflection coefficient for which q_a is a maximum.

³⁵ For $|\Gamma_t|$ and $|\Gamma_{iu}|$ both less than 0.2 (which corresponds to VSWR of 1.5) and of arbitrary phase, and with "attenuations" as small as 3 dB, the maximum error ir N_{ul} which results from truncating the series after the second term is less than 0.001 percent.

^{percent.} ³⁶ At terminal 2, in figure 10, the equivalent generator reflection coefficient Γ'_{g} is given by $\Gamma'_{g} = (a\Gamma_{g} - c)/(-b\Gamma_{g} + 1)$ and the available power from the generator-attenuator combination is achieved when $\Gamma'_{f} = \Gamma'_{g'}$ Under these conditions $q_{ga} = M_{ga} \eta_{al}$. Combining these expressions and using eq (21) yields eq (56). ³⁷ In general the efficiency of a two-port is a function both of the terminating load and the direction of energy propagation. Except as otherwise noted, however, the

assumed direction will be from left to right.

It is thus possible to drop the distinction between q_a and η_a or between Q and N and write eq (55) in the form:

$$P_{gl} = P_g N_{ga} \eta_a M_{al}. \tag{60}$$

The procedure for measuring N_{ya} is also identical to that for measuring N_{al} with the exception that it is now port 1 of the attenuator which is connected to the g-reflectometer. The technique for measuring small values of η_a , now to be described, is based upon eqs (2) and (60).

Referring to figure 12, the attenuator for which η_a is to be measured is connected between a g-reflectometer and a tunable power detector of wide dynamic range. It is assumed that tuner T_q of the g-reflectometer has been first adjusted such that eq (11) is satisfied, while the adjustment of T_x is abitrary. The tuning transformer which is part of the power detector is then adjusted for a maximum power indication,³⁸ so that the term M_{al} (eq (60)) is equal to unity.³⁹



FIGURE 12. Circuit for measuring small values of η_a .

By hypothesis, the response of the power detector is proportional to the power which it absorbs. If this power indication is denoted by P_d , then

$$hP_d = P_{gl} \tag{61}$$

where h is a proportionality factor.

In terms of the notation employed in the section on power measurement, the available power, P_{q} , at the output of the g-reflectometer is equal to K_1P_4 where K_1 is, as yet, undetermined. After making these substitutions, eq (60) becomes:

$$hP_{da} = K_1 P_{4a} N_{ga} \eta_a \tag{62}$$

where the subscript a has been added to P_d and P_4 to signify quantities measured with the attenuator inserted between the g-reflectometer and power detector as indicated in figure 12. In a similar manner, the subscript b will denote the observed values with the attenuator removed.

Then,

$$hP_{db} = K_1 P_{4b} M_{gd} \tag{63}$$

and taking the ratio of eqs (62) and (63) yields,

$$\eta_a = \frac{P_{da}P_{4b}M_{gd}}{P_{db}P_{4a}N_{ga}} \cdot \tag{64}$$

The efficiency η_a is thus determined in terms of the observed quantities P_{4a} , P_{4b} , P_{da} , P_{db} , and in terms of M_{gd} and N_{ga} . These last two quantities are measured as previously described. In brief, the measurement of N_{aa} calls for the replacement of the power detector by a sliding short and certain measurements of P_3 and P_4 , while the measurement of M_{gd} requires the values of P_3 and P_4 with the power detector and the short connected directly to the *g*-reflectometer.

It is of interest to compare this technique with the existing art. In the usual attenuation measurement, the g-reflectometer of figure 12 is replaced by a matched generator and the power detector also adjusted for an impedance match. The attenuation is then obtained from the ratio of the power detector readings, with and without the attenuator inserted. The wide dynamic range for the detector is usually achieved by means of another attenuator which may operate either at the signal frequency or, if hetrodyne detection is employed, at an intermediate frequency.

If one considers the g-reflectometer of figure 12 as the counterpart of the necessary instrumentation for establishing the impedance match in the attenuation measurement, the instrumentation requirements of the two measurements are nominally equivalent. The maximum efficiency measurement, however, requires a number of additional observations, most of which are associated with the determination of M_{gd} and N_{ga} .

4.5. Measurement of R and R_c

As outlined in the preceding sections, the measurement of η_{al} , η_{a} , N_{al} has been reduced to the determination of the parameters R and R_c (eqs (26)) and (27)) for the linear fractional transformation, which relates the ratio b_3/b_4 to the reflection coefficients which obtain at the different terminal surfaces. It is the purpose of this section to describe the measurement procedure in greater detail.

It has been previously noted that the response of the ratio b_3/b_4 to the motion of the sliding short is in the form of a circular locus whose radius is Rand whose center is displaced from the origin, in the b_3/b_4 plane, by the amount R_c . The relationship between these quantities is as indicated in figure 13.

In actual practice, arms 3 and 4 of the g-reflectometer are provided with power detectors such that the measured quantities P_3 and P_4 are proportional to $|b_3|^2$ and $|b_4|^2$ respectively. Since only

²⁰ More correctly, the adjustment is such that the power detector indication is a maximum relative to $P_{\rm a}$ of the g-reflectometer. ²⁰ It is not necessary to assume that the transformer which provides this adjustment is lossless since this is taken care of in the procedure to follow.



FIGURE 13. Illustrating the relationship between R, R_c , and b_3/b_4 .

power ratios are involved, these factors may be taken as equal to unity (as was also done in eq (16)).

As the sliding short is moved, the ratio P_3/P_4 thus varies and inspection of figure 13 indicates that

$$\left| \frac{b_3}{b_4} \right|_{\max} = \left(\frac{P_3}{P_4} \right|_{\max} \right)^{1/2} = R + R_c \tag{65}$$

$$\left| \frac{b_3}{b_4} \right|_{\min} = \left(\frac{P_3}{P_4} \right|_{\min} \right)^{1/2} = \pm (R - R_c)$$
 (66)

where the upper sign is used if, as shown in figure 13, $R \ge R_c$; otherwise the lower sign is used.

These equations may be solved to yield:

$$R = \frac{1}{2} \left[\left(\frac{P_3}{\overline{P_4}} \right|_{\max} \right)^{1/2} \pm \left(\frac{P_3}{\overline{P_4}} \right|_{\min} \right)^{1/2} \right]$$
(67)

$$R_{c} = \frac{1}{2} \left[\left(\frac{P_{3}}{P_{4}} \Big|_{\max} \right)^{1/2} \mp \left(\frac{P_{3}}{P_{4}} \Big|_{\min} \right)^{1/2} \right].$$
(68)

Measurement of the maximum and minimum values of the ratio P_3/P_4 thus determines R and R_c but with an ambiguity as to which is which. As a practical matter, this ambiguity can often be resolved on the basis of an approximate knowledge of the magnitudes of the parameters involved. If not it can be easily resolved by introducing a variable attenuator ahead of the sliding short, and using the upper or lower signs depending respectively upon whether or not, by a suitable adjustment of the attenuator and short position, it is possible to make b_3 vanish.⁴⁰

The earlier comments about the practical limitations in certain of the described techniques for measuring small values of η_a and η_{at} may now be better appreciated. Referring to eq (67), it is the lower sign which will usually apply if η_{at} is small, thus the quantity R, to which the efficiencies are proportional is the difference between two measurements, which individually may be rather large as compared with their difference.⁴¹ A similar observation is true for the determination of R_c when it is small with respect to R. The inability to accurately measure small values of R_c is, however, of no concern since, as eq (54) indicates, $N_{at} \approx 1 - R_{cy}^2/R_2^2$ and thus the dependence upon R_c vanishes as R_c approaches zero.

4.6. Cascade Connected Attenuators

For completeness, it should be noted that there is a third type of mismatch factor which is of interest in conjunction with cascade connected attenuators.

Referring to figure 14 the power delivered to the load can be written:

$$P_{gl} = P_g M_{ga_1} \eta_{a_1} N_{a_1 a_2 l} \eta_{a_2} N_{a_2 l} \tag{69}$$

where except for the addition of the subscripts 1 and 2, to identify the two attenuators, the terms have been previously defined. Note however that in the fourth term the additional subscript l is required to indicate that it is the mismatch between attenuator 1 and the attenuator 2 and load combination, which follows, which is meant. (In an alternative formulation, one might be interested in the mismatch between attenuator 2 and the generatorattenuator 1 combination which precedes it.)

Alternatively, the power delivered to the load in figure 14 may be written (cf eq (19))

$$P_{gl} = P_g M_{gA} \eta_A N_{Al} \tag{70}$$

where the two attenuators are now considered to comprise a single unit as reflected in the subscript A.



FIGURE 14. Basic circuit for discussing cascade connected attenuators.

⁴⁰ The basis for this test is as follows. In the usual microwave circuit description, a sliding short represents a reflection coefficient of unit magnitude and variable phase. In appendix 8 it is shown that reflection coefficients of magnitude less than unity are mapped into the *interior* of the circle of figure 13. Thus if the circle encloses the origin it will be possible to make b_a vanish for a suitable reflection as provided by the attenuator-short combination.

Note that it is not necessary to carry this procedure to the point where the null is actually achieved. Starting from the point where the ratio $|b_2/b_4|$ is a minimum, the introduction of dissipative loss (via the attenuator) will increase the value of $|b_3/b_4|$ if the origin is outside the circle, decrease it, if the origin is inside.

⁴⁾ In the measurement of η_{al} , as prescribed in section 4.1, the adjustment of T_y was arbitrary, and this could in principle be used to make R_c vanish, such that the + sign would apply in eq (67). In the measurement of η_a the specified adjustment is, ideally, such that R_c vanishes. There is, however, a practical limitation as to the precision and stability with which the required adjustment can be made. This limits the techniques of sections 4.1 and 4.2 to small values of attenuation.

In terms of the individual efficiencies η_A may be written,

$$\eta_A = \eta_{a_1} R_{a_1 a_2} \eta_{a_2} \tag{71}$$

where $R_{a_1a_2}$ is a mismatch factor ⁴² which, from physical considerations, must lie between zero and unity.

In eq (70) the term M_{ga_1} of eq (69), has been written as M_{gA} since this is more in keeping with the new interpretation and notation. However, this reinterpretation does not change the load impedance which is presented to the generator, thus the two terms are identical. Comparison of eqs (69), (70), and (71) thus indicates that:

$$R_{a_1a_2} = \frac{N_{a_1a_2l}N_{a_2l}}{N_{Al}}.$$
(72)

An experimental determination of $R_{a_1a_2}$ may thus be effected by a measurement of the N's, as already described, and use of eq (72).

5. Relationship to Existing Art

The relationship between the new concept and the existing art can perhaps be best illustrated by an analogy. The usual circuit description of a microwave system (by means of the impedance or scattering parameters) represents a substantial simplification as compared with a description in terms of the field quantities. To a large degree this simplification is the result of <u>suppressing</u> a great deal of the information which is implicit in the field description, and focusing attention on those properties of the individual components which are observable at the respective terminal surfaces.

The new concept carries this simplification a step further by suppressing much of the detail which is involved in the circuit description, and instead substitutes the parameters P, η_a , M, N, R. These permit a system evaluation which is adequate for many practical purposes and because of their invariant properties the precision waveguide and connector requirement is avoided. It may be noted, in this context, that the usual specification for precision waveguide and connectors results not from the fundamental power transmission requirements, but rather to permit a system evaluation.

This elimination of the precision waveguide and connector requirement is significant both as a consequence of the elimination of this source of error and also in that it anticipates an application of existing technology to more general types of systems-e.g., those in which a well defined terminal plane between the different components may not exist.⁴³ In addition, while the described techniques for the measurement of P, η_a , M, N, R, are limited to the case where the perturbed cross section does not approach the point where multimode propagation becomes possible, the basic description (in terms of P...R) is applicable, and of potential value in multimode systems. In fact, the definitions of P_g, P_{gl}, M_{gl} are immediately applicable on a multimode basis. However because the *efficiency*, in a multimode problem, depends upon the generator as well as load parameters, the given definitions of η , N, R would need to be generalized.

In order to illustrate some of the advantages which are provided by the new concept, it is useful to consider the coaxial connector problem. For many years, the lack of a precision coaxial connector was a major limitation to accurate measurements in coaxial systems. The widely employed Type N connector suffered from the following problems: (1) impedance discontinuity, (2) lack of a well defined terminal surface, (3) its unipolar nature, (4) nominal differences between "identical" units due to manufacturing tolerances, and (5) lack of repeatability when the unit is disconnected and reconnected. Among this list of shortcomings, only the last is of concern in the new concept, where it is still necessary to postulate that a device can be removed and then replaced without changing the overall system.

Although the new concept calls for the substitution of mismatch factor measurement for impedance measurement, this does not imply that impedance measurements are obsolete. In particular the impedance concept makes it convenient to write system specifications in such a way that the mismatch factors will be nominally equal to unity and to identify the faulty unit if this design objective is not achieved. The mismatch factor measurement, on the other hand, permits a direct evaluation of how well the design objectives have been realized without regard for possible connector discontinuities.

Finally, the described techniques for measuring M, N, etc., have been developed on the assumption that the detectors on arms 3 and 4 of the g-reflectometer do not respond to phase information. In recent years, more sophisticated types of detection systems have been introduced for use in stepped frequency measurements, and which include phase sensitive detectors, memory, and a computer. Given this type of capability, a substantial simplification in the described procedures may be effected, but the development of this topic is outside the scope of this dissertation.

6. Summary

Historically, the quantities power, attenuation and impedance have been accepted as fundamental in the description and evaluation of microwave sys-

 $^{^{42}}$ Not to be confused with the radius of the circular locus introduced in eq (26).

⁴³ As previously noted, it is the (postulated) existence of a lossless region, where the interconnection takes place, that permits the terminal surface to remain arbitrary. Alternatively, the need for this lossless region may be avoided by specifying the location of the terminal surface.

tems. As noted in the preceding section, the usual precision waveguide and connector requirement is often imposed to permit the specification and evaluation in terms of these parameters, rather than as a result of more fundamental considerations.

The new concept, which has been outlined in this dissertation, proposes an alternative description in which power, maximum efficiency, and mismatch factor (M, N, R) are the fundamental parameters. The advantages of this concept are basically twofold. First, the inevitable departures from waveguide uniformity in any physically realizable system no longer impose a limitation on its experimental evaluation, and precision measurements are now possible in coaxial systems which are fitted with the Type N connector, for example. The second advantage of this concept is in the more easily understood physical model which it provides, where instead of taking account of the traveling wave amplitudes at the several ports, the attention is directed to the power transfer characteristics. (The terms M_{aa} and N_{al} in eq (19), for example, take the place of a rather complicated algebraic expression involving the six complex reflection and scattering coefficients.) As a consequence of this simplification, it should now be practical to instruct field personnel in the use and application of mismatch corrections.

It should perhaps be noted that many of the basic parameters, upon which the new concept is built, are not new. The quantities which are represented by P_g , η_a , M_{gl} , for example, are well known in the prior art. The contribution of this dissertation, is in the recognition of the invariant features of these parameters and the introduction of others such that independence of connector discontinuity is achieved. In addition, practical techniques, for the measurement of these terms, have been developed and described.

For completeness, it should be observed that while the analysis of nonuniform transmission lines and waveguides is a subject of current interest, the emphasis in this dissertation has been on the development of a measurement theory and practice rather than a detailed description of the fields associated with nonuniform waveguide. For convenience, the measurement procedures have been developed in terms of the existing circuit representation and then examined for their dependence upon uniformity requirements. In particular these procedures are characterized by their dependence only upon a phasable short, and methods for recognizing the equality of two "impedances." It is possible that these results could be obtained more directly from an alternative formulation.

Finally, the discussion has been limited primarily to the power measurement problem, with attenuation and impedance taking a supporting role. The potential application of this concept to phase measurement and multimode systems remains to be investigated.

7. Appendixes

7.1. Appendix 1

A formal demonstration of the invariance of M_{gl} , to a shift in terminal plane, may be effected with the help of figure 10. In particular it will be shown that M_{ga} (obtained at terminal 1) is equal to M_{al} (obtained at terminal 2) provided that the "attenuator" is lossless.

At terminal 1 in figure 10 the reflection coefficient, Γ_{in} , looking to the right is given by:

$$\Gamma_{in} = \frac{a\Gamma_l + b}{c\Gamma_l + 1} \tag{A-1}$$

while at terminal 2, the reflection coefficient, : Γ'_g , is given by:

$$\Gamma'_g = \frac{a\Gamma_g - c}{-b\Gamma_g + \mathbf{I}} \cdot \tag{A-2}$$

The terms Γ_{in} and Γ'_g replace Γ_l and Γ_g respectively in eq (18) to yield M_{ga} and M_{al} .

For a lossless and reciprocal twoport, the parameters a, b, c, satisfy the conditions ⁴⁴

$$|a| = 1 \tag{A-3}$$

$$b - ac^* = 0.$$
 (A-4)

Combining eqs (A-4, A-1), and (18) yields:

$$M_{ga} = 1 - \frac{|a\Gamma_l + ac^* - \Gamma_g^* - c\Gamma_l\Gamma_g^*|^2}{|1 + c\Gamma_l - a\Gamma_l\Gamma_g - ac^*\Gamma_g|^2}.$$
 (A-5)

Since |a|=1, the numerator of the second term may, without changing its value, be multiplied (inside the absolute value signs) by a^{*}. Doing this, rearranging, and again using eq (A-4) yields,

$$M_{ga} = 1 - \frac{\left|\frac{a\Gamma_g - c}{-b\Gamma_g + 1} - \Gamma_l^*\right|^2}{\left|1 - \Gamma_l \left[\frac{a\Gamma_g - c}{-b\Gamma_g + 1}\right]\right|^2}$$
(A-6)

which by comparison with eqs (A-2) and (18) is equal to M_{al} .

7.2. Appendix 2

Referring to figure 4, it will be shown that eq (11) is implied if the ratio P_3/P_4 remains constant for all positions of a sliding short on arm 2.

⁴⁴ This may be demonstrated in several ways. From physical considerations it is evident that $|\Gamma_{in}| = 1$ when $|\Gamma_l| = 1$. In terms of eqs (26) and (27) this calls for R = 1, $R_r = 0$, and which, with the appropriate changes in notation, leads to eqs (A-3) and (A-4).

With arm 2 terminated by a sliding short, b_2 and a_2 are related by

$$a_2 = b_2 e^{i\theta}.\tag{A-7}$$

Substitution in eq (15), and taking the absolute value yields,

$$\frac{P_3}{P_4} = \left| \frac{Ae^{i\theta} + B}{Ce^{i\theta} + D} \right|^2. \tag{A-8}$$

By hypothesis the ratio P_3/P_4 is a constant which will be denoted by K. Substitution of K and expansion of eq (A-8) yields,

$$|A|^{2} + |B|^{2} + AB^{*}e^{i\theta} + A^{*}Be^{-i\theta}$$
$$-K(|C|^{2} + |D|^{2} + CD^{*}e^{i\theta} + C^{*}De^{-i\theta}) = 0.$$
(A-9)

If this equation is to hold for arbitrary values of θ , the coefficients of the several powers of $e^{i\theta}$ must vanish independently. This leads to:

$$AB^* - KCD^* = 0, \qquad (A-10)$$

$$|A|^{2} + |B|^{2} - K(|C|^{2} + |D|^{2}) = 0.$$
 (A-11)

(The third equation is the complex conjugate of eq (A-10) and contains no additional information.)

Elimination of K between eqs (A=10) and (A=11) yields:

$$CD^{*}(|A|^{2} + |B|^{2}) = AB^{*}(|C|^{2} + |D|^{2}).$$
 (A-12)

Multiplication of this expression by B/B^* and using the result $A^*BCD^* = AB^*C^*D$ (which follows from eq (A-10) since K is real) leads to:

$$A^{2}C^{*}D - AB(|C|^{2} + |D|^{2}) + B^{2}CD^{*} = 0$$
 (A-13)

which may be factored to yield:

$$(AD - BC)(AC^* - BD^*) = 0.$$
 (A-14)

This equation admits of two solutions. However, the AD-BC=0 solution is trivial in the present context since it yields a value for P_3/P_4 which is completely independent of the terminating load. (As a practical matter, this adjustment would result if one of the couplers were reversed, and is useful in a different application.) This leaves the condition $AC^*-BD^*=0$, which was to be proved.

7.3. Appendix 3

It is the purpose of this appendix to demonstrate that for the usual reflectometer, the uniform waveguide requirement applies only to the output arm. In figure 15 let there be an *enforced* current $a_1 \mathbf{J}$ in one portion of the structure where \mathbf{J} is a three dimensional vector function giving the spatial distribution and a_1 is a scalar multiplier. The current $a_1 \mathbf{J}$ is the source of an electromagnetic field throughout the structure and is, by hypothesis, independent of the termination on the uniform section.



FIGURE 15. Electromagnetic system used in deriving basic reflectometer equation.

Let the uniform section (arm 2) be first terminated by a matched load. Then the field in arm 2 is completely specified by the term b_2 which is a measure of the electric field amplitude associated with the outgoing traveling wave. In another part of the structure, let the amplitude of the electric field component in an arbitrarily chosen direction be denoted by b_3 . If the system is linear, it is possible to write,

 b_2

$$= ha_1$$
 (A-15)

$$b_3 = ka_1$$
 (A-16)

where h and k are constants.

Next let an incoming wave, the amplitude of which will be denoted a_2 , be launched in arm 2.⁴⁵ By superposition, b_2 and b_3 now become:

$$b_2 = ha_1 + ma_2$$
 (A-17)

$$b_3 = ka_1 + na_2$$
 (A-18)

where *m* and *n* are two additional constants. Elimination of a_1 between eqs (A-17) and (A-18) yields:

$$b_3 = Aa_2 + Bb_2$$
 (A-19)

where

$$A = \frac{hn - km}{h}, \tag{A-20}$$

$$B = \frac{k}{h}$$
 (A-21)

If, in the same way, the component of the field amplitude in a given direction, at another position, is denoted by b_4 , it is possible to write,

$$b_4 = Ca_2 + Db_2$$
 (A-22)

 $^{^{\}rm 45}$ it makes no difference whether this is achieved by means of a source on arm 2, or by a partial reflection of the wave $b_2.$

where C and D are two additional constants of the system. Taking the ratio of eqs (A-19) and (A-22) yields eq (15), which is the starting point in the usual reflectometer development [3].

7.4. Appendix 4

It will be shown that the adjustment of T_x , to achieve the $C+D\Gamma_g=0$ condition, is invariant to the adjustment of T_y .

This could be done in a completely formal manner by finding the appropriate expressions for C and D in terms of the parameters of the two couplers and tuning transformers; this approach, however, is tedious. Instead, in figure 6, let an auxiliary terminal plane be temporarily inserted between the tuner T_y and the second coupler (the one on the right). Within this second coupler (including T_x) the electromagnetic fields are completely determined by a_2 and b_2 and, in particular, the field in arm 4 can be written

$$b_4 = C'a_2 + D'b_2 \tag{A-23}$$

where C' and D' are functions of the parameters of the second coupler and T_x (but not of T_y). If b_4 is eliminated between eqs (15) and (A-23) it becomes apparent that a nontrivial linear relationship exists between b_3 , b_2 , and a_2 if, and only if, C/D = C'/D'. Since the ratio C'/D' is invariant to the adjustment of T_y , the same is true of C/D. Thus, if this ratio is such that eq (14) is satisfied for one particular adjustment of T_y , the same is true for all possible adjustments.

7.5. Appendix 5

It is the purpose of this appendix to investigate, analytically, the wave propagation in a perturbed waveguide.

Beginning with figure 16 it will prove useful to consider the perturbed waveguide and a circumscribed uniform waveguide. Within the volume V, which is bounded by the uniform waveguide and the



FIGURE 16. System used to analyze wave propagation in perturbed waveguide.

transverse surfaces S_1 and S_2 , the electromagnetic field vectors, **E**, **H**, of course, satisfy Maxwell's 0equations which, for harmonic time dependence, may be written:

$$7 \times \mathbf{E} = -j\omega\mu\mathbf{H} \tag{A-24}$$

$$\nabla \times \mathbf{H} = j\omega \epsilon \mathbf{E} + \mathbf{J}, \qquad (A-25)$$

where ϵ and μ are constant. In particular, the effect of the perturbed boundary is accounted for by the current density, **J.** Taking the curl of eq (A-24) and substituting from eq (A-25) leads to

$$\nabla \times \nabla \times \mathbf{E} = k^2 \mathbf{E} - j \omega \mu \mathbf{J} \qquad (A-26)$$

where $k^2 = \omega^2 \mu \epsilon$.

In general the electric field **E** which satisfies eqs (A-24), (A-25) may be expanded in the form: 46

$$\mathbf{E} = \sum_{a} \left[A_a (\mathbf{e}_a^0 + \mathbf{E}_{az}) e^{-\gamma_a z} + B_a (\mathbf{e}_a^0 - \mathbf{E}_{az}) e^{\gamma_a z} \right]$$
(A-27)

where a is a mode index, \mathbf{e}_a^0 and \mathbf{E}_{az} are vector functions of the transverse (but not axial) coordinates, with \mathbf{e}_a^0 in the transverse plane and \mathbf{E}_{az} in the axial direction, here assumed to be the z axis. In eq (A-27) the vectors

$$\mathbf{E}_{a}^{+} = (\mathbf{e}_{a}^{0} + \mathbf{E}_{az})e^{-\gamma_{a}z} \text{ and } \mathbf{E}_{a}^{-} = (\mathbf{e}_{a}^{0} - \mathbf{E}_{az})e^{\gamma_{a}z}$$

are the modal solutions of Maxwell's equations for the *unperturbed* waveguide. Finally, the complex scalar factors A_a and B_a are functions of z, but not of the transverse coordinates. Inspection of eq (A-27) shows that A_a and B_a represent the amplitudes of waves in the positive and negative z directions respectively.

In complete analogy with eq (A-27), the associated magnetic field **H** is given by:

$$\mathbf{H} = \sum_{a} \left[A_{a} (\mathbf{h}_{a}^{0} + \mathbf{H}_{az}) e^{-\gamma_{a} z} - B_{a} (\mathbf{h}_{a}^{0} - \mathbf{H}_{az}) e^{\gamma_{a} z} \right].$$
(A-28)

Although a complete definition of the basis fields e_a^0 , h_a^0 requires two normalization conditions, the discussion to follow requires only the power normalization which is assigned as follows:

$$\int_{s} \mathbf{e}_{a}^{0} \times \mathbf{h}_{a}^{0} \cdot \mathbf{n} \ ds = \frac{1}{2}$$
 (A-29)

where the integration is over the transverse plane and \mathbf{n} is in the positive z direction.

It is next necessary to introduce the vector analog of Green's second identity ⁴⁷ which states that given a closed region of space, bounded by a regular sur-

⁴⁶ cf reference 16, pages 170–223.

⁴⁷ See for example, reference 15, p. 250,

face S, and two vector functions of position \mathbf{P} , and \mathbf{Q} , with continuous first and second derivatives, the following relationship holds:

$$\int_{s} (\mathbf{P} \times \nabla \times \mathbf{Q} - \mathbf{Q} \times \nabla \times \mathbf{P}) \cdot \mathbf{n} \, ds$$

$$\int_{v} (\mathbf{Q} \cdot \nabla \times \nabla \times \mathbf{P} - \mathbf{P} \cdot \nabla \times \nabla \times \mathbf{Q}) dv$$
(A-30)

where \mathbf{n} is now the outward normal from the surface which bounds the volume V

In eq (A-30), let the volume of interest be that which is bounded by S_1 , S_2 , and the unperturbed guide in figure 16. Then let:

$$\mathbf{P} = \mathbf{E}$$

$$\mathbf{Q} = \mathbf{E}_{a}^{-} = (\mathbf{e}_{a}^{0} - \mathbf{E}_{az})e^{\gamma_{a}z}$$
(A-31)

which, with the help of eq (A-26), leads to

$$\int_{s} (\mathbf{E} \times \nabla \times \mathbf{E}_{a}^{i-} - \mathbf{E}_{a}^{-} \times \nabla \times \mathbf{E}) \cdot \mathbf{n} \, ds$$
$$= \int_{v} [\mathbf{E}_{a}^{-} \cdot (k^{2}\mathbf{E} - j\omega\mu\mathbf{J}) - \mathbf{E} \quad \nabla \times \nabla \times \mathbf{E}_{a}^{-}] \, dv.$$

As already postulated, \mathbf{E}_a^- is a solution of Maxwell's equations, and eq (A-32) may be simplified with the help of the following:

$$\nabla \times \mathbf{E}_{a}^{-} = -j\omega\mu\mathbf{H}_{a}^{-} \qquad (A-33)$$

$$\nabla \times \nabla \times \mathbf{E}_{a}^{-} = k^{2} \mathbf{E}_{a}^{-} \qquad (A-34)$$

where

$$\mathbf{H}_{a}^{-} = (-\mathbf{h}_{a}^{0} + \mathbf{H}_{az}) e \gamma a^{z}. \qquad (A-35)$$

After making these substitutions, eq (A-32) becomes:

$$\int_{s} (\mathbf{E} \times \mathbf{H}_{a}^{-} - \mathbf{E}_{a}^{-} \times \mathbf{H}) \cdot \mathbf{n} \ ds = \int_{v} \mathbf{E}_{a}^{-} \cdot \mathbf{J} \ dv.$$
(A-36)

Since the boundary conditions on a conducting surface require that the tangential electric fields vanish, the evaluation of the left side of this equation requires only the tangential components of **E** and **H** on the surfaces S_1 and S_2 . If the tangential components on S_1 are represented by \mathbf{E}_{1t} and \mathbf{H}_{1t} respectively eqs (A-27) and (A-28) yield:

$$\mathbf{E}_{1t} = \sum_{b} \left[\left(A_{1b} e^{-\gamma_{b} z_{1}} + B_{1b} e^{\gamma_{b} z_{1}} \right) \mathbf{e}_{b}^{0} \right]$$
(A-37)

$$\mathbf{H}_{1t} = \sum_{b} \left[\left(A_{1b} e^{-\gamma_{b} z_{1}} - B_{1b} e^{\gamma_{b} z_{1}} \right) \mathbf{h}_{b}^{0} \right]$$

(A - 38)

where z_1 is the value of z at terminal surface 1, and A_{1b} , B_{1b} are the coefficients of the expansion which give the required field at this terminal surface. If in eqs (A-37), (A-38) the subscript 1 is replaced by 2, the corresponding expression for the fields at terminal 2 is obtained.

Equation (A-36) may be now written

$$\begin{split} \int_{s_1} \left\{ \left[\sum_b \left(A_{1b} e^{-\gamma_b z_1} + B_{1b} e^{\gamma_b z_1} \right) \mathbf{e}_b^0 \right] \times \left(-\mathbf{h}_a^0 e^{\gamma_a z_1} \right) \\ &- e^{\gamma_a z_1} \mathbf{e}_a^0 \times \left[\sum_b \left(A_{1b} e^{-\gamma_b z_1} - B_{1b} e^{\gamma_b z_1} \right) \mathbf{h}_b^0 \right] \right\} \cdot \mathbf{n} \ ds_1 \\ &+ \int_{s_2} \left\{ \left[\sum_b \left(A_{2b} e^{-\gamma_b z_2} + B_{2b} e^{\gamma_b z_2} \right) \mathbf{e}_b^0 \right] \times \left(-\mathbf{h}_a^0 e^{\gamma_a z_2} \right) \\ &- e^{\gamma_a z_2} \mathbf{e}_a^0 \times \left[\sum_b \left(A_{2b} e^{-\gamma_b z_2} - B_{2b} e^{\gamma_b z_2} \right) \mathbf{h}_b^0 \right] \right\} \cdot \mathbf{n} \ ds_2 \\ &= \int_v \left[\mathbf{e}_a^0 - \mathbf{E}_{az} \right] e^{\gamma_a z} \cdot \mathbf{J} \ dv \qquad (A-39) \end{split}$$

This expression may be simplified by cancellation and use of the orthogonality⁴⁸ relations:

$$\int_{s} \mathbf{e}_{a}^{0} \times \mathbf{h}_{b}^{0} \cdot \mathbf{n} \, ds = 0. \tag{A-40}$$

So that eq (A-39) becomes:

$$\int_{s_1} 2A_{1a} (-\mathbf{e}_a^0 \times \mathbf{h}_a^0) \cdot \mathbf{n} \, ds + \int_{s_2} 2A_{2a} (-\mathbf{e}_a^0 \times \mathbf{h}_a^0) \cdot \mathbf{n} \, ds$$
$$= \int_v (\mathbf{e}_a^0 - \mathbf{E}_{az}) e^{\gamma_a z} \cdot \mathbf{J} \, dv. \qquad (A-41)$$

Finally, observing that the outward normal from the volume V in figure 16 coincides with the positive z direction at S_2 , but is opposite to it at S_1 , and using eq (A-29) gives:

$$A_{2a} = A_{1a} - \int_{v} (\mathbf{e}_{a}^{0} - \mathbf{E}_{az}) \cdot \mathbf{J} \ e^{\gamma_{a} z} \ dv. \quad (A-42)$$

Equation (A-42) is interpreted as follows. At terminal 2 the coefficients A_{2a} , A_{2b} , A_{2c} , ... represent a collection of waves whose direction of propagation is in the positive z direction. From eq (A-42) each of these coefficients is comprised of two parts ... the complex amplitude which would obtain in the absence of the perturbation, plus a contribution due to the perturbation. Note that whereas the coefficients of the field expansion at terminals 1 and 2 are equal in the absence of the perturbation, the expression for the transverse field (cf. eq (A-37)) also includes the propagation constant $e^{\gamma_a z}$ such that the usual attenuation is obtained for those components of the field which represent evanescent waves.

"See reference 9.

With regard to the second term on the right of eq (A-42) it is convenient to choose the origin of the coordinate system such that z=0 on S_2 . Then z is negative throughout the volume of integration. If in eq (A-42), A_{2a} represents the amplitude of one of the nonpropagating modes, the exponential factor indicates that the contribution to A_{2a} from the induced current density, **J**, is small for those current elements which are remote from S_2 . Indeed, it is both possible and convenient to visualize the induced current **J** as a secondary source of waves whose propagation is then governed by the dimensions of the unperturbed guide.

In the foregoing treatment, the only type of perturbation explicitly considered has been that of a deformed boundary, and this is certainly the problem of greatest practical interest. It is possible to obtain the same general conclusion if an arbitrary distribution of dielectric and magnetic media is also included in the perturbed guide.

This discussion provides the basis for the description given in section 3c.

7.6. Appendix 6

The derivation of eq (38) begins with the basic definition of N_{al} and help of eqs (21) and (23):

$$N_{al} = \frac{\eta_{al}}{\eta_a} = \frac{|S_{21}|^2 (1 - |\Gamma_l|^2)}{p - q |\Gamma_l|^2 + z\Gamma_l + z^*\Gamma_l^*} \cdot \frac{p - q |\Gamma_m|^2 + z\Gamma_m + z^*\Gamma_m^*}{|S_{21}|^2 (1 - |\Gamma_m|^2)}$$
(A-43)

$$=\frac{\left(1-\frac{q|\Gamma_{m}|^{2}}{p}+\frac{z\Gamma_{m}}{p}+\frac{z^{*}\Gamma_{m}^{*}}{p}\right)(1-|\Gamma_{l}|^{2})}{\left(1-\frac{q|\Gamma_{l}|^{2}}{p}+\frac{z\Gamma_{l}}{p}+\frac{z^{*}\Gamma_{l}^{*}}{p}\right)(1-|\Gamma_{m}|^{2})}$$
(A-44)

where:

$$p = 1 - |b|^2 \tag{A-45}$$

$$q = |a|^2 - |c|^2 \tag{A-46}$$

$$z = c - ab^* \tag{A-47}$$

Before continuing with the development of the desired expression for N_{al} , it is necessary to obtain expressions for q/p and z/p as functions of Γ_m and η_T .

In terms of eqs (A-45), (A-46), (A-47), eq (35) becomes

$$z\Gamma_m |\Gamma_m|^2 + (p-q) |\Gamma_m|^2 + z^*\Gamma_m^* = 0.$$
 (A-48)

If this equation is subtracted from its complex conjugate, and noting that p and q are real, the resulting relation can be put in the form:

$$(z\Gamma_m - z^*\Gamma_m^*)(1 - |\Gamma_m|^2) = 0$$
 (A-49)

and since $|\Gamma_m| \leq 1$ for a passive termination, this requires, in general,⁴⁹

$$z\Gamma_m = z^* \Gamma_m^*. \tag{A-50}$$

Equation (A-48) may thus be written:

$$\frac{z}{p}\Gamma_m(1+|\Gamma_m|^2) + \left(1-\frac{q}{p}\right)|\Gamma_m|^2 = 0.$$
 (A-51)

Starting with eq (24), expanding, and using eqs (A-45), (A-46), (A-47) yields:

$$\eta_r^2 = \frac{|a - bc|^2 (1 - |\Gamma_m|^2)^2}{(|1 + c\Gamma_m|^2 - |a\Gamma_m + b|^2)^2} \qquad (A-52)$$

$$=\frac{(|a|^{2}+|bc|^{2}-|c|^{2}-|ab|^{2}+|c-ab^{*}|^{2})(1-|\Gamma_{m}|^{2})}{(p-q|\Gamma_{m}|^{2}+z\Gamma_{m}+z^{*}\Gamma_{m}^{*})^{2}}$$
$$\eta_{r}^{2}=\frac{(pq+|z|^{2})(1-|\Gamma_{m}|^{2})^{2}}{(p-q|\Gamma_{m}|^{2}+z\Gamma_{m}+z^{*}\Gamma_{m}^{*})^{2}}$$
(A-53)

Equation (A-48) may be rearranged in two different ways to yield:

$$q |\Gamma_m|^2 - z^* \Gamma_m^* = (p + z \Gamma_m) |\Gamma_m|^2 \quad (A-54)$$

and

$$|z|^{2} = (q-p)z\Gamma_{m} - z^{2}\Gamma_{m}^{2}.$$
 (A-55)

Substitution of these expressions in the denominator and numerator respectively of eq (A-53) leads to:

$$\eta_r^2 = \frac{\frac{q}{p} - \frac{z}{p} \Gamma_m}{1 + \frac{z}{p} \Gamma_m}.$$
 (A-56)

Equations (A-51) and (A-56) may now be solved simultaneously to yield the following expressions for z/p and q/p,

$$\frac{z}{p} = -\frac{(1-\eta_r^2)\Gamma_m^*}{1-\eta_r^2|\Gamma_m|^2}$$
(A-57)

$$\frac{q}{p} = \frac{\eta_r^2 - |\Gamma_m|^2}{1 - \eta_r^2 |\Gamma_m|^2}.$$
 (A-58)

Finally, eqs (A-57) and (A-58) may be substituted in eq (A-44) which may then be factored to obtain eq (38).

Equation (39) may be obtained from eq (38) with the help of the relationship:

$$(1 - |\Gamma_l|^2)(1 - |\Gamma_m|^2) = |1 - \Gamma_l \Gamma_m^*|^2 - |\Gamma_l - \Gamma_m|^2$$
(A-59)

which may be confirmed by the expansion of both sides.

⁴⁹ This same result may be obtained from eq (A=43) where the second factor on the right is the reciprocal of η_o . By inspection η_u is a maximum with respect to the argument of Γ_m when $z\Gamma_m$ is real and negative.

7.7. Appendix 7

Equation (42) may be obtained as follows. Starting with eqs (27) and (29), R_{c1} is given by:

$$R_{c1} = \frac{|(B - Ac) (D - Cc)^* - (Aa - Bb) (Ca - Db)^*|}{||D - Cc|^2 - |Ca - Db|^2|}.$$
(A-60)

Combining this with eq (31), and imposing the condition $BD^* - AC^* = 0$, yields:

$$\frac{R_{c1}}{R_2} = \frac{\left|\frac{z}{p}\Gamma_l^2 + \left(1 - \frac{q}{p}\right)\Gamma_l + \frac{z^*}{p}\right|}{\left|1 - \frac{q|\Gamma_l|^2}{p} + \frac{z\Gamma_l}{p} + \frac{z^*\Gamma_l^*}{p}\right|}$$
(A-61)

where p, q, and z are defined by eqs (A-45), (A-46), (A-47).

Substituting the values of z/p and q/p from eqs (A-57) and (A-58) into this expression gives eq (42).

7.8. Appendix 8

It is the purpose of this appendix to determine the conditions under which a reflection coefficient of magnitude less than unity will be mapped into the interior of the circle of figure 13.

Returning to eq (27), it will prove convenient for this appendix to interpret R_c as a *complex* number, which locates the center of the transformed circle in the *w* plane. Then:

$$R_c = \frac{\beta \delta^* - \alpha \gamma^*}{|\delta|^2 - |\gamma|^2}.$$
 (A-62)

By inspection of eq (25), the origin of the z plane transforms to the point β/δ in the w plane. Provided that this point is within the transformed circle, continuity considerations insure that all values of z, for which |z| < 1 will be mapped to its interior. Evidently, the point β/δ will be found within the transformed circle provided that:

$$\left| R_c - \frac{\beta}{\delta} \right| < R. \tag{A-63}$$

Substituting from eqs (26) and (A-62) gives

$$\frac{\beta\delta^* - \alpha\gamma^*}{|\delta|^2 - |\gamma|^2} - \frac{\beta}{\delta} \left| < \frac{|\beta\gamma - \alpha\delta|}{||\delta|^2 - |\gamma|^2|} \right| \quad (A-64)$$

which after simplification becomes

$$|\gamma| < |\delta|. \tag{A-65}$$

The application of this result to the g-reflectometer yields

$$|C| < |D|. \tag{A-66}$$

The Author expresses a sincere "thank you" to the members of his Advisory Committee, Professors C. T. Johnk, S. W. Maley, W. A. Rense, and N. S. Nahman for their encouragement and constructive criticisms during the preparation of this dissertation. A special measure of appreciation is extended to Professor D. M. Kerns, under whose direction it was prepared. In addition, a number of constructive discussions with Dr. P. F. Wacker, of the National Bureau of Standards, are acknowledged. Finally, the Author extends his appreciation to Mrs. Margaret Woolley and to Miss Sharon Foote for typing the manuscript.

This dissertation was prepared under the auspices of the Radio Metrology Program.

8. Bibliography

- [1] Kerns, D. M., Basis of the application of network equations to waveguide problems, J. Res. NBS 42, 515-40 (May 1949) RP1990.
- [2] Beatty, R. W., and Macpherson, A. C., Mismatch errors in microwave power measurements, Proc. IRE 41, 1112-19 (Sept. 1953).
- [3] Engen, G. F., and Beatty, R. W., Microwave Reflectometer Tech. IRE Trans. on Microwave Theory and Tech. MTT-7, 351-55 (July 1959).
- [4] Engen, G. F., A Transfer Instrument for the Intercomparison of Microwave Power Meters, IRE Trans. Instr. I-9, 202-08 (Sept. 1960).
- [5] Engen, G. F., A variable impedance power meter and adjustable reflection coefficient standard, J. Res. NBS, 68C (Eng. and Instr.) No. 1, 7-24 (Jan.-Mar. 1964).
- [6] Engen, G. F., Amplitude stabilization of a microwave signal source, IRE Trans. on Microwave Theory and Tech. MTT-6, 202-06 (April 1958).
- [7] Tomiyasu, K., Intrinsic insertion loss of a mismatched micro-wave network, IRE Trans. on Microwave Theory and Tech. MTT-3, 40-44 (Jan. 1955).
- [8] Beatty, R. W., Intrinsic Attenuation, IEEE Trans. on Microwave Theory and Tech. MTT-11, 179-82 (May 1963).
- [9] Kerns, D. M., and Beatty, R. W., Basic Theory of Waveguide Junctions, and Introductory Microwave Network Analysis (Pergamon Press, New York, N.Y., 1967).
- [10] Montgomery, C. G., Technique of Microwave Measurements, pp 816-21 (McGraw-Hill Book Co., New York, N.Y., 1947)
- [11] Alter, W., Q-circles a means of analysis of resonant microwave systems, Proc. IRE 35, 355-61 and 478-85 (April & May 1947).
- [12] Cullen, A. L., Measurement of microwave transmission efficiency, Wireless Engineer **26**, 255-58. [13] Beatty, R. W., Determination of attenuation from imped-
- ance measurements, Proc. IRE 38, 895-97 (Aug. 1950).
- [14] Altschuler, H. M., Maximum efficiency of Four-Terminal Networks, Proc. IRE 43, 1016, (Aug. 1955).
- [15] Stratton, J. A., Electromagnetic Theory (McGraw-Hill Book Co., New York, N.Y., p. 250, 1941).
- [16] Collin, R. E., Field Theory of Guided Waves (McGraw-Hill Book Co., New York, N.Y., 1960).







NBS TECHNICAL PUBLICATIONS

PERIODICALS

JOURNAL OF RESEARCH reports National Bureau of Standards research and development in physics, mathematics, chemistry, and engineering. Comprehensive scientific papers give complete details of the work, including laboratory data, experimental procedures, and theoretical and mathematical analyses. Illustrated with photographs, drawings, and charts.

Published in three sections, available separately:

• Physics and Chemistry

Papers of interest primarily to scientists working in these fields. This section covers a broad range of physical and chemical research, with major emphasis on standards of physical measurement, fundamental constants, and properties of matter. Issued six times a year. Annual subscription: Domestic, \$9.50; foreign, \$11.75*.

• Mathematical Sciences

Studies and compilations designed mainly for the mathematician and theoretical physicist. Topics in mathematical statistics, theory of experiment design, numerical analysis, theoretical physics and chemistry, logical design and programming of computers and computer systems. Short numerical tables. Issued quarterly. Annual subscription: Domestic, \$5.00; foreign, \$6.25*.

• Engineering and Instrumentation

Reporting results of interest chiefly to the engineer and the applied scientist. This section includes many of the new developments in instrumentation resulting from the Bureau's work in physical measurement, data processing, and development of test methods. It will also cover some of the work in acoustics, applied mechanics, building research, and cryogenic engineering. Issued quarterly. Annual subscription: Domestic, \$5.00; foreign, \$6.25*.

TECHNICAL NEWS BULLETIN

The best single source of information concerning the Bureau's research, developmental, cooperative and publication activities, this monthly publication is designed for the industry-oriented individual whose daily work involves intimate contact with science and technology—for engineers, chemists, physicists, research managers, product-development managers, and company executives. Annual subscription: Domestic, \$3.00; foreign, \$4.00*.

* Difference in price is due to extra cost of foreign mailing.

Order NBS publications from:

Superintendent of Documents Government Printing Office Washington, D.C. 20402

NONPERIODICALS

Applied Mathematics Series. Mathematical tables, manuals, and studies.

Building Science Series. Research results, test methods, and performance criteria of building materials, components, systems, and structures.

Handbooks. Recommended codes of engineering and industrial practice (including safety codes) developed in cooperation with interested industries, professional organizations, and regulatory bodies.

Special Publications. Proceedings of NBS conferences, bibliographies, annual reports, wall charts, pamphlets, etc.

Monographs. Major contributions to the technical literature on various subjects related to the Bureau's scientific and technical activities.

National Standard Reference Data Series. NSRDS provides quantitive data on the physical and chemical properties of materials, compiled from the world's literature and critically evaluated.

Product Standards. Provide requirements for sizes, types, quality and methods for testing various industrial products. These standards are developed cooperatively with interested Government and industry groups and provide the basis for common understanding of product characteristics for both buyers and sellers. Their use is voluntary.

Technical Notes. This series consists of communications and reports (covering both other agency and NBS-sponsored work) of limited or transitory interest.

Federal Information Processing Standards Publications. This series is the official publication within the Federal Government for information on standards adopted and promulgated under the Public Law 89–306, and Bureau of the Budget Circular A–86 entitled, Standardization of Data Elements and Codes in Data Systems.

CLEARINGHOUSE

The Clearinghouse for Federal Scientific and Technical Information, operated by NBS, supplies unclassified information related to Government-generated science and technology in defense, space, atomic energy, and other national programs. For further information on Clearinghouse services, write:

> Clearinghouse U.S. Department of Commerce Springfield, Virginia 22151

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE WASHINGTON, D.C. 20230

OFFICIAL BUSINESS



POSTAGE AND FEES PAID U.S. DEPARTMENT OF COMMERCE